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ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

March 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

ASSETS (unaudited)
Commercial real estate properties, at cost:
Land $201,196 $201,196
Development costs 7,931 7,498
Building and improvements 2,089,792 2,067,636

2,298,919 2,276,330
Less: accumulated depreciation (490,427 ) (465,584 )
Commercial real estate properties, net 1,808,492 1,810,746
Cash and cash equivalents 44,440 46,685
Restricted cash 60,165 65,880
Tenant and other receivables, net of allowance of $3,364 and $2,792 in 2016 and 2015,
respectively 14,828 18,782

Deferred rent receivables, net of allowance of $231 and $245 in 2016 and 2015,
respectively 127,148 122,048

Prepaid expenses and other assets 29,908 50,460
Deferred costs, net 304,977 310,679
Acquired below-market ground leases, net 381,934 383,891
Goodwill 491,479 491,479
Total assets $3,263,371 $3,300,650
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Mortgage notes payable, net $772,015 $747,661
Senior unsecured notes, net 587,861 587,018
Unsecured term loan facility, net 262,640 262,545
Unsecured revolving credit facility, net — 35,192
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 119,104 111,099
Acquired below-market leases, net 96,245 104,171
Deferred revenue and other liabilities 26,802 31,388
Tenants’ security deposits 49,729 48,890
Total liabilities 1,914,396 1,927,964
Commitments and contingencies
Equity:
Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 50,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or
outstanding — —

Class A common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 400,000,000 shares authorized,
120,639,410 shares issued and outstanding and 118,903,312 shares issued and outstanding
in 2016 and 2015, respectively

1,206 1,189

Class B common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 1,107,290
and 1,120,067 shares issued and outstanding in 2016 and 2015, respectively 11 11

Additional paid-in capital 476,107 469,152
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9,626 ) (883 )
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Retained earnings 52,370 55,260
Total Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.'s stockholders' equity 520,068 524,729
Non-controlling interests in operating partnership 820,903 839,953
Private perpetual preferred units, $16.62 per unit liquidation preference, 1,560,360 issued
and outstanding in 2016 and 2015 8,004 8,004

Total equity 1,348,975 1,372,686
Total liabilities and equity $3,263,371 $3,300,650

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016 2015

Revenues:
Rental revenue $114,908 $110,058
Tenant expense reimbursement 18,120 18,200
Observatory revenue 21,181 18,223
Construction revenue — 1,607
Third-party management and other fees 545 446
Other revenue and fees 2,320 3,348
Total revenues 157,074 151,882
Operating expenses:
Property operating expenses 39,104 42,027
Ground rent expenses 2,333 2,331
General and administrative expenses 10,918 9,100
Observatory expenses 7,755 7,402
Construction expenses — 2,869
Real estate taxes 23,525 22,978
Acquisition expenses 98 —
Depreciation and amortization 39,227 41,418
Total operating expenses 122,960 128,125
Total operating income 34,114 23,757
Interest expense (17,951 ) (16,047 )
Income before income taxes 16,163 7,710
Income tax benefit 542 178
Net income 16,705 7,888
Private perpetual preferred unit distributions (234 ) (234 )
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests (9,043 ) (4,516 )
Net income attributable to common stockholders $7,428 $3,138

Total weighted average shares:
Basic 120,778 109,400
Diluted 266,641 265,810

Earnings per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic $0.06 $0.03
Diluted $0.06 $0.03

Dividends per share $0.085 $0.085

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands)

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2016 2015

Net income $16,705 $7,888
Other comprehensive loss:
Change in unrealized loss on valuation of interest rate swap agreements (19,371 ) —
     Other comprehensive loss (19,371 ) —
Comprehensive income (loss) (2,666 ) 7,888
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests and private perpetual preferred unitholders (9,277 ) (4,750 )
Other comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests 10,640 —
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $(1,303 ) $3,138

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands)

Number
of Class
A
Common
Shares

Class
A
Common
Stock

Number
of
Class
B
Common
Shares

Class
B
Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

Non-controlling
Interests

Private
Perpetual
Preferred
Units

Total Equity

Balance at
December 31,
2015

118,903 $1,189 1,120 $11 $469,152 $(883 ) $55,260 $524,729 $839,953 $8,004 $1,372,686

Conversion of
operating
partnership
units and Class
B shares to
Class A shares

1,723 17 (13 ) — 6,858 (12 ) — 6,863 (6,863 ) — —

Equity
compensation:
LTIP units — — — — — — — — 2,000 — 2,000
Restricted
stock, net of
forfeitures

14 — — — 97 — — 97 — — 97

Dividends and
distributions — — — — — — (10,318 ) (10,318 ) (12,590 ) (234 ) (23,142 )

Net income — — — — — — 7,428 7,428 9,043 234 16,705
Unrealized
loss on
valuation of
interest rate
swap
agreements

— — — — — (8,731 ) — (8,731 ) (10,640 ) — (19,371 )

Balance at
March 31,
2016

120,640 $1,206 1,107 $11 $476,107 $(9,626) $52,370 $520,068 $820,903 $8,004 $1,348,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands)

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2016 2015

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $16,705 $7,888
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 39,227 41,418
Amortization of deferred finance costs and debt premiums and discount 220 1,220
Amortization of acquired above- and below-market leases, net (4,231 ) (5,291 )
Amortization of acquired below-market ground leases 1,957 1,958
Straight-lining of rental revenue (5,081 ) (4,102 )
Equity based compensation 2,097 1,694
Increase (decrease) in cash flows due to changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash 1,474 3,179
Tenant and other receivables 3,954 10,986
Deferred leasing costs (6,335 ) (16,396)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 20,553 17,789
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (6,415 ) (6,057 )
Deferred revenue and other liabilities (4,586 ) (6,905 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 59,539 47,381
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Decrease in restricted cash for investing activities 5,081 28
Development costs (433 ) (346 )
Additions to building and improvements (28,752 ) (27,717)
Net cash used in investing activities (24,104 ) (28,035)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Edgar Filing: Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. - Form 10-Q

10



6

Edgar Filing: Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. - Form 10-Q

11



Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands)

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2016 2015

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable 50,000 —
Repayment of mortgage notes payable (23,252 ) (47,084 )
Proceeds from unsecured revolving credit facility — 495,000
Repayments of unsecured revolving credit facility (40,000 ) (330,000)
Repayments of term loan and credit facility — (470,000)
Proceeds from senior unsecured notes — 350,000
Deferred financing costs (1,286 ) (3,558 )
Private perpetual preferred unit distributions (234 ) (234 )
Dividends paid to common stockholders (10,318 ) (9,406 )
Distributions paid to non-controlling interests in the operating partnership (12,590 ) (13,333 )
Net cash used in financing activities (37,680 ) (28,615 )
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,245 ) (9,269 )
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period 46,685 45,732
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $44,440 $36,463

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $18,909 $15,742
Cash paid for income taxes $657 $1,434

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Building and improvements included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $45,594 $47,533
Derivative instruments at fair values included in accounts payable and accrued expenses 19,371 —
Conversion of operating partnership units and Class B shares to Class A shares 6,863 19,538

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Empire State Realty Trust, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

1. Description of Business and Organization
As used in these condensed consolidated financial statements, unless the context otherwise requires, “we,” “us,” “our,” the
“company,” and "ESRT" mean Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
    We are a self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust, or REIT, that owns, manages, operates,
acquires, redevelops and repositions office and retail properties in Manhattan and the greater New York metropolitan
area.
As of March 31, 2016, our total portfolio contained 10.1 million rentable square feet of office and retail space. We
owned 14 office properties (including three long-term ground leasehold interests) encompassing approximately 9.4
million rentable square feet of office space. Nine of these properties are located in the midtown Manhattan market and
aggregate approximately 7.5 million rentable square feet of office space, including the Empire State Building. Our
Manhattan office properties also contain an aggregate of 516,201 rentable square feet of retail space on their ground
floor and/or contiguous levels. Our remaining five office properties are located in Fairfield County, Connecticut and
Westchester County, New York, encompassing in the aggregate approximately 1.9 million rentable square feet. The
majority of square footage for these five properties is located in densely populated metropolitan communities with
immediate access to mass transportation. Additionally, we have entitled land at the Stamford Transportation Center in
Stamford, Connecticut, adjacent to one of our office properties, that will support the development of an approximately
380,000 rentable square foot office building and garage, which we refer to herein as Metro Tower. As of March 31,
2016, our portfolio included four standalone retail properties located in Manhattan and two standalone retail properties
located in the city center of Westport, Connecticut, encompassing 204,452 rentable square feet in the aggregate.
We were organized as a Maryland corporation on July 29, 2011 and commenced operations upon completion of our
initial public offering and related formation transactions on October 7, 2013. Our operating partnership, Empire State
Realty OP, L.P., holds substantially all of our assets and conducts substantially all of our business. As of March 31,
2016, we owned approximately 45.2% of the aggregate operating partnership units in our operating partnership. Our
company, as the sole general partner in our operating partnership, has responsibility and discretion in the management
and control in our operating partnership, and the limited partners in our operating partnership, in such capacity, have
no authority to transact business for, or participate in the management activities of, our operating partnership.
Accordingly, our operating partnership has been consolidated by us. We elected to be taxed as a REIT and operate in a
manner that we believe allows us to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable
year ended December 31, 2013.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
There have been no material changes to the summary of significant accounting policies included in the section entitled
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in our December 31, 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Basis of Quarterly Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), for interim financial information,
and with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Accordingly, certain
information and footnote disclosures required by GAAP for complete financial statements have been condensed or
omitted in accordance with such rules and regulations. In the opinion of management, all adjustments and eliminations
(including intercompany balances and transactions), consisting of normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary
for the fair presentation of the financial statements have been included.
For purposes of comparison, certain items shown in the 2015 unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
have been reclassified to conform to the presentation used for 2016. For all periods presented, certain Empire State
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Building public relations costs previously included in property operating expenses are included in observatory
expenses. For the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, these costs were $1.0 million and $0.4 million,
respectively.
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    The results of operations for the periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected
for the corresponding full years. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements
and accompanying notes included in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 contained in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We do not consider our business to be subject to material seasonal fluctuations, except
that our observatory business is subject to tourism seasonality. During the past ten years, approximately 16.0% to
18.0% of our annual observatory revenue was realized in the first quarter, 26.0% to 28.0% was realized in the second
quarter, 31.0% to 33.0% was realized in the third quarter and 23.0% to 25.0% was realized in the fourth quarter.
We consolidate entities in which we have a controlling financial interest.  In determining whether we have a
controlling financial interest in a partially owned entity and the requirement to consolidate the accounts of that entity,
we consider factors such as ownership interest, board representation, management representation, authority to make
decisions, and contractual and substantive participating rights of the partners/members as well as whether the entity is
a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and we are the primary beneficiary.  The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the entity that
has (i) the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and (ii) the
obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE.
The primary beneficiary is required to consolidate the VIE.
On January 1, 2016, we adopted accounting guidance under the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB")Accounting Standards Codification Topic 810, Consolidation, modifying the analysis we must perform to
determine whether we should consolidate certain types of legal entities.  The guidance does not amend the existing
disclosure requirements for variable interest entities or voting interest model entities.  The guidance, however,
modified the requirements to qualify under the voting interest model.  Under the revised guidance, our operating
partnership, Empire State Realty OP, L.P., is a variable interest entity of our company, Empire State Realty Trust,
Inc.  As the operating partnership is already consolidated in the balance sheets of Empire State Realty Trust, Inc., the
identification of this entity as a variable interest entity had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.  There
were no other legal entities qualifying under the scope of the revised guidance that were consolidated as a result of the
adoption.
We will assess the accounting treatment for each investment we may have in the future. This assessment will include a
review of each entity’s organizational agreement to determine which party has what rights and whether those rights are
protective or participating. For all VIEs, we will review such agreements in order to determine which party has the
power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and benefit. In situations
where we or our partner could approve, among other things, the annual budget, or leases that cover more than a
nominal amount of space relative to the total rentable space at each property, we would not consolidate the investment
as we consider these to be substantive participation rights that result in shared power of the activities that would most
significantly impact the performance and benefit of such joint venture investment.
A non-controlling interest in a consolidated subsidiary is defined as the portion of the equity (net assets) in a
subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. Non-controlling interests are required to be presented as
a separate component of equity in the condensed consolidated balance sheets and in the condensed consolidated
statements of income by requiring earnings and other comprehensive income to be attributed to controlling and
non-controlling interests.
Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to
use estimates and assumptions that in certain circumstances affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenses. Significant items subject to
such estimates and assumptions include allocation of the purchase price of acquired real estate properties among
tangible and intangible assets, determination of the useful life of real estate properties and other long-lived assets,
valuation and impairment analysis of commercial real estate properties and other long-lived assets, estimate of
percentage of completion on construction contracts, valuation of the allowance for doubtful accounts, and valuation of
derivative instruments, senior unsecured notes and equity based compensation. These estimates are prepared using
management’s best judgment, after considering past, current, and expected events and economic conditions. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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Derivative Instruments
We are exposed to the effect of interest rate changes and manage these risks by following policies and procedures
including the use of derivatives. To manage exposure to interest rates, derivatives are used primarily to fix the rate on
debt based on floating-rate indices. We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. We incorporate credit
valuation
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adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s
nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. We measure the credit risk of our derivative instruments that are
subject to master netting agreements on a net basis by counterparty portfolio. For derivatives that qualify as cash flow
hedges, we report the effective portion of changes in the fair value of a derivative designated as a hedge as part of
other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently reclassify the effective portion into income in the period that the
hedged item affects income. We account for the ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of a derivative directly
in income. Reported net income and equity may increase or decrease prospectively, depending on future levels of
interest rates and other variables affecting the fair values of derivative instruments and hedged items, but will have no
effect on cash flows.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Standards
During February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842),
which requires that a lessee recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the
lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. For leases
with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election by class of underlying
asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. ASU No. 2016-02 leaves the accounting for leases by lessors
largely unchanged from previous GAAP. ASU No. 2016-02 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018 and subsequent interim periods. The new standard must be adopted using a modified retrospective
transition, and provides for certain practical expedients. Transition will require application of the new guidance at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. We are evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting
standard on our consolidated financial statements.
During January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10) -
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities, which makes targeted improvements to existing
generally accepted accounting principles by requiring, among others, i) equity investments (except those accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income, and ii) public business entities to use the exit price notion
when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes, iii) separate presentation of financial
assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset (that is, securities or loans and
receivables) on the balance sheet or the accompanying notes to the financial statements. ASU No. 2016-01 will take
effect for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those
fiscal years. We are evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting standard on our consolidated financial
statements.
During September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the
Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments, which requires an acquirer to recognize adjustments to provisional
amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts
are determined. Previously, adjustments to provisional amounts were applied retrospectively. This update requires an
entity to present separately on the face of the income statement or disclose in the notes the portion of the amount
recorded in current-period earnings by line item that would have been recorded in previous reporting periods if the
adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of the acquisition date. ASU No. 2015-16 will be
effective for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2016 and subsequent interim periods. The implementation of this
update did not cause any material changes to our consolidated financial statements.
During June 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-10, Technical Corrections and Improvements, which contains
amendments that represent changes to clarify the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification”), correct
unintended application of guidance, or make minor improvements to the Codification that are not expected to have a
significant effect on current accounting practice or create a significant administrative cost to most entities. The
amendments in ASU No. 2015-10 that require transition guidance are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. All other amendments will be effective
upon its issuance. The implementation of this update did not and is not expected to cause any material changes to our
consolidated financial statements.
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During April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30):
Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which amends the requirements for the presentation of debt
issuance costs and requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance
sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. ASU No.
2015-03 is effective for fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015 and interim periods within those fiscal years.
ASU No. 2015-03 was amended in August 2015 by ASU No. 2015-15, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic
835-30) - Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit
Arrangements, to add to the Codification SEC staff guidance that the SEC staff will not object to an entity presenting
the costs of securing line-of-credit arrangements as an asset, regardless of whether
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there are any outstanding borrowings. The SEC Observer to the Emerging Issues Task Force announced the staff
guidance in response to questions that arose after the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03. We adopted ASU 2015-03 as of
December 31, 2015.
During February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810) - Amendments to the
Consolidation Analysis, which amends the criteria for determining which entities are considered VIEs, amends the
criteria for determining if a service provider possesses a variable interest in a VIE and ends the deferral granted to
investment companies for application of the VIE consolidation model. ASU No. 2015-02 is effective for fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2015 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The implementation of this update
did not cause any material changes to our consolidated financial statements.
During May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which will replace
all current GAAP guidance related to revenue recognition and eliminate all industry-specific guidance. The new
revenue recognition standard provides a unified model to determine when and how revenue is recognized. The core
principle is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. This guidance will be effective beginning in 2017 and can be applied either retrospectively to each period
presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. ASU No. 2014-09 was amended in August
2015 by ASU No. 2015-14 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date,
which defers the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09 for all entities by one year. Public business entities, certain
not-for-profit entities, and certain employee benefit plans should apply the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09 to annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period.
Earlier application is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including
interim reporting periods within that reporting period. We are evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting
standard on our consolidated financial statements.    
3. Deferred Costs, Acquired Lease Intangibles and Goodwill
Deferred costs, net consisted of the following as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (amounts in thousands):  

March 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Leasing costs $127,886 $ 121,864
Acquired in-place lease value and deferred leasing costs 283,557 285,902
Acquired above-market leases 79,618 81,680

491,061 489,446
Less: accumulated amortization (190,502 ) (178,767 )
Total deferred costs, net, excluding net deferred financing costs $300,559 $ 310,679
At March 31, 2016, there were no outstanding borrowings on our unsecured revolving credit facility. Consequently,
$4.4 million of net deferred financing costs associated with the unsecured revolving credit facility was included in
deferred costs, net on the condensed consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2016.    
Amortization expense related to deferred leasing costs and acquired deferred leasing costs was $5.8 million and $5.9
million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Amortization expense related to acquired
lease intangibles was $7.7 million and $10.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.
Amortizing acquired intangible assets and liabilities consisted of the following as of March 31, 2016 and December
31, 2015 (amounts in thousands):

March 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Acquired below-market ground leases $396,916 $ 396,916
Less: accumulated amortization (14,982 ) (13,025 )
Acquired below-market ground leases, net $381,934 $ 383,891
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March 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Acquired below-market leases $(162,314) $ (163,290 )
Less: accumulated amortization 66,069 59,119
Acquired below-market leases, net $(96,245 ) $ (104,171 )
Rental revenue related to the amortization of below-market leases, net of above-market leases, was $4.2 million and
$5.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
As of March 31, 2016, we had goodwill of $491.5 million. Goodwill was allocated $227.5 million to the observatory
reportable segment and $264.0 million to the real estate segment.

4. Debt
Debt consisted of the following as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (amounts in thousands):

As of March 31, 2016

Principal Balance as
of March 31, 2016

Principal Balance as
of December 31,
2015

Stated
Rate

Effective
Rate(1)

Maturity
Date(2)

Mortgage debt collateralized by:
Fixed rate mortgage debt
10 Bank Street $ 32,050 $ 32,214 5.72% 6.22 % 6/1/2017
1542 Third Avenue 18,117 18,222 5.90% 6.58 % 6/1/2017
First Stamford Place 237,842 238,765 5.65% 6.15 % 7/5/2017
1010 Third Avenue and 77 West 55th Street 26,926 27,064 5.69% 6.39 % 7/5/2017
383 Main Avenue 29,119 29,269 5.59% 6.04 % 7/5/2017
1333 Broadway 68,404 68,646 6.32% 3.77 % 1/5/2018
1400 Broadway
(first lien mortgage loan) 68,483 68,732 6.12% 3.43 % 2/5/2018
(second lien mortgage loan) 9,548 9,600 3.35% 3.36 % 2/5/2018
112 West 34th Street
(first lien mortgage loan) 76,126 76,406 6.01% 3.39 % 4/5/2018
(second lien mortgage loan) 9,608 9,640 6.56% 3.70 % 4/5/2018
1350 Broadway 38,205 38,348 5.87% 3.75 % 4/5/2018
Metro Center 97,465 97,950 3.59% 3.67 % 11/5/2024
10 Union Square (3) 50,000 20,289 3.70% 4.05 % 4/1/2026
Total mortgage debt 761,893 735,145
Senior unsecured notes - exchangeable 250,000 250,000 2.63% 3.93 % 8/15/2019
Senior unsecured notes:
   Series A 100,000 100,000 3.93% 4.00 % 3/27/2025
   Series B 125,000 125,000 4.09% 4.17 % 3/27/2027
   Series C 125,000 125,000 4.18% 4.26 % 3/27/2030
Unsecured revolving credit facility — 40,000 (4) (4) 1/23/2019
Unsecured term loan facility 265,000 265,000 (5) (5) 8/24/2022
Total principal 1,626,893 1,640,145
Unamortized premiums, net of unamortized
discount 4,112 5,181

Deferred financing costs, net (8,489 ) (12,910 )
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Total $ 1,622,516 $ 1,632,416
______________
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(1)The effective rate is the yield as of March 31, 2016, including the effects of debt issuance costs and theamortization of the fair value of debt adjustment.
(2)Pre-payment is generally allowed for each loan upon payment of a customary pre-payment penalty.

(3)The mortgage loan collateralized by 10 Union Square was refinanced during the three months ended March 31,2016.

(4)At March 31, 2016, the unsecured revolving credit facility bears a floating rate at 30 day LIBOR plus 1.15%. Therate at March 31, 2016 was 1.58%.

(5)
The unsecured term loan facility bears a floating rate at 30 day LIBOR plus 1.60%. The rate at March 31, 2016 was
2.03%. Pursuant to a forward interest rate swap agreement, the LIBOR rate was fixed at 2.1485% for the period
beginning on August 31, 2017 through maturity.

Principal Payments
Aggregate required principal payments at March 31, 2016 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Year Amortization Maturities Total
2016 $ 9,053 $— $9,053
2017 9,904 336,009 345,913
2018 2,880 262,210 265,090
2019 2,188 250,000 252,188
2020 2,268 — 2,268
Thereafter9,706 742,675 752,381
Total $ 35,999 $1,590,894 $1,626,893

Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs, net, consisted of the following at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (amounts in
thousands):

March
31, 2016

December
31, 2015

Financing costs $21,425 $20,882
Less: accumulated amortization (8,518 ) (7,972 )
Total deferred financing costs, net $12,907 $12,910
Amortization expense related to deferred financing costs was $1.3 million and $2.4 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and was included in interest expense. At March 31, 2016, there were no
outstanding borrowings on our unsecured revolving credit facility. Consequently, $4.4 million of net deferred
financing costs associated with the unsecured revolving credit facility was included in deferred costs, net on the
condensed consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2016.
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

On January 23, 2015, we entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement, which is referred to herein as the
“unsecured revolving credit facility,” with Bank of America, Merrill Lynch, Goldman Sachs and the other lenders party
thereto. Merrill Lynch acted as joint lead arranger; Bank of America acted as administrative agent; and Goldman
Sachs acted as syndication agent and joint lead arranger. 

Concurrently with entering into the unsecured revolving credit facility, on January 23, 2015, we terminated our
secured revolving and term credit facility and wrote off $1.3 million of deferred financing costs. In connection with
the termination of the secured revolving and term credit facility, all of the guarantors thereunder were released from
their guaranty obligations, all liens created thereby were terminated, and all collateral pledged thereunder was
released.
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The unsecured revolving credit facility is comprised of a revolving credit facility in the maximum original principal
amount of $800.0 million. The unsecured revolving credit facility contains an accordion feature that would allow us to
increase the maximum aggregate principal amount to $1.25 billion under specified circumstances. As of March 31,
2016, the unsecured revolving credit facility did not have an outstanding balance.

Amounts outstanding under the unsecured revolving credit facility bear interest at a floating rate equal to, at our
election, (x) a Eurodollar rate, plus a spread that ranges from 0.875% to 1.600% depending upon our leverage ratio
and credit
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rating; or (y) a base rate, plus a spread that ranges from 0.000% to 0.600% depending upon our leverage ratio and
credit rating. In addition, the unsecured revolving credit facility permits us to borrow at competitive bid rates
determined in accordance with procedures described in the unsecured revolving credit facility agreement. We paid
certain customary fees and expense reimbursements to enter into the unsecured revolving credit facility.

The initial maturity of the unsecured revolving credit facility is January 2019. We have the option to extend the initial
term for up to two additional 6-month periods, subject to certain conditions, including the payment of an extension fee
equal to 0.075% of the then outstanding commitments under the unsecured revolving credit facility.

The unsecured revolving credit facility includes the following financial covenants: (i) maximum leverage ratio of total
indebtedness to total asset value of the loan parties and their consolidated subsidiaries will not exceed 60%, (ii)
consolidated secured indebtedness will not exceed 40% of total asset value, (iii) tangible net worth will not be less
than $745.4 million plus 75% of net equity proceeds received by us (other than proceeds received within ninety (90)
days after the redemption, retirement or repurchase of ownership or equity interests in us up to the amount paid by us
in connection with such redemption, retirement or repurchase, where, the net effect is that we shall not have increased
our net worth as a result of any such proceeds), (iv) adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the unsecured revolving credit
facility) to consolidated fixed charges will not be less than 1.50x, (v) the aggregate net operating income with respect
to all unencumbered eligible properties to the portion of interest expense attributable to unsecured indebtedness will
not be less than 1.75x, (vi) the ratio of total unsecured indebtedness to unencumbered asset value will not exceed 60%,
and (vii) consolidated secured recourse indebtedness will not exceed 10% of total asset value (provided, however, this
covenant shall not apply at any time after we achieve debt ratings from at least two of Moody’s, S&P and Fitch, and
such debt ratings are Baa3 or better (in the case of a rating by Moody’s) or BBB- or better (in the case of a rating by
S&P or Fitch)).

The unsecured revolving credit facility contains customary covenants, including limitations on liens, investment, debt,
fundamental changes, and transactions with affiliates, and requires certain customary financial reports. The unsecured
revolving credit facility contains customary events of default (subject in certain cases to specified cure periods),
including but not limited to non-payment, breach of covenants, representations or warranties, cross-defaults,
bankruptcy or other insolvency events, judgments, ERISA events, invalidity of loan documents, loss of real estate
investment trust qualification, and occurrence of a change of control (as defined in the agreement for the unsecured
credit facility).

As of March 31, 2016, we were in compliance with the covenants under the unsecured revolving credit facility. 

Senior Unsecured Notes

Exchangeable Senior Notes

During August 2014, we issued $250.0 million principal amount of 2.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes (“2.625%
Exchangeable Senior Notes”) due August 15, 2019. For the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, total interest
expense related to the 2.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes was $2.4 million consisting of (i) the contractual interest
expense of $1.6 million, (ii) the additional non-cash interest expense of $0.7 million relating to the accretion of the
debt discount, and (iii) the amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.1 million.

Series A, Series B, and Series C Senior Notes
During March 2015, we issued and sold an aggregate principal amount of $350 million senior unsecured notes
consisting of $100 million of 3.93% Series A Senior Notes due 2025, $125 million of 4.09% Series B Senior Notes
due 2027, and $125 million of 4.18% Series C Senior Notes due 2030 (together, the “Series A, B and C Senior Notes”).
Interest on the Series A, B and C Senior Notes is payable quarterly.
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The terms of the Series A, B and C Senior Notes agreement include customary covenants, including limitations on
liens, investment, debt, fundamental changes, and transactions with affiliates and require certain customary financial
reports. The Series A, B and C Senior Notes also require compliance with financial ratios consistent with our
unsecured revolving credit facility including a maximum leverage ratio, a maximum secured leverage ratio, a
minimum amount of tangible net worth, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, a minimum unencumbered interest
coverage ratio, a maximum unsecured leverage ratio and a maximum amount of secured recourse indebtedness.

The proceeds from the issuance of the Series A, B and C Senior Notes were used to repay outstanding mortgage debt,
reduce amounts outstanding under the unsecured revolving credit facility and for other general corporate purposes. As
of March 31, 2016, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Series A, B and C Senior Notes. 
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Senior Unsecured Term Loan Facility
During August 2015, we entered into a $265.0 million senior unsecured term loan facility, which is referred to herein
as the “term loan facility” with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, Capital One, National
Association, as syndication agent, PNC Bank, National Association, as documentation agent, and the lenders from
time to time party thereto.

Amounts outstanding under the term loan facility bear interest at a floating rate equal to, at our election, (x) a LIBOR
rate, plus a spread that ranges from 1.400% to 2.350% depending upon our leverage ratio and credit rating; or (y) a
base rate, plus a spread that ranges from 0.400% to 1.350% depending upon our leverage ratio and credit rating.
Pursuant to a forward interest rate swap agreement, we effectively fixed LIBOR at 2.1485% for $265.0 million of the
term loan facility for the period beginning on August 31, 2017 through maturity. In connection with the closing of the
term loan facility, we paid certain customary fees and expense reimbursements.

The term loan facility matures on August 24, 2022. We may prepay loans under the term loan facility at any time,
subject to certain notice requirements. To the extent that we prepay all or any portion of a loan on or prior to August
24, 2017, we will pay a prepayment premium equal to (i) if such prepayment occurs on or prior to August 24, 2016,
2.00% of the principal amount so prepaid, and (ii) if such prepayment occurs after August 24, 2016 but on or prior to
August 24, 2017, 1.00% of the principal amount so prepaid.

The terms of the term loan facility agreement include customary covenants, including limitations on liens, investment,
debt, fundamental changes, and transactions with affiliates and require certain customary financial reports. The term
loan facility requires compliance with financial ratios including a maximum leverage ratio, a maximum secured
leverage ratio, a minimum amount of tangible net worth, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, a minimum
unencumbered interest coverage ratio, a maximum unsecured leverage ratio and a maximum amount of secured
recourse indebtedness. It also contains customary events of default (subject in certain cases to specified cure periods).
These terms in the term loan facility agreement are consistent with the terms in our unsecured revolving credit facility
agreement.

The proceeds from the term loan facility were used to repay borrowings made under the unsecured revolving credit
facility. As of March 31, 2016, we were in compliance with the covenants under the term loan facility.

5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015
(amounts in thousands):

March 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $74,166 $ 83,352
Payable to the estate of Leona M. Helmsley (1) 18,367 18,367
Interest rate swap agreements liability 21,294 1,922
Accrued interest payable 3,808 5,555
Due to affiliated companies 1,469 1,903
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $119,104 $ 111,099
___________

(1)Reflects a payable to the estate of Leona M. Helmsley in the amount of New York City transfer taxes which wouldhave been payable in absence of the estate's exemption from such tax.

6. Financial Instruments and Fair Values
Derivative Financial Instruments
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We use derivative financial instruments primarily to manage interest rate risk and such derivatives are not considered
speculative. These derivative instruments are typically in the form of interest rate swap and forward agreements and
the primary objective is to minimize interest rate risks associated with investing and financing activities. The
counterparties of
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these arrangements are major financial institutions with which we may also have other financial relationships. We are
exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by these counterparties; however, we currently do not
anticipate that any of the counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

We have agreements with our derivative counterparties that contain a provision where if we either default or are
capable of being declared in default on any of our indebtedness, then we could also be declared in default on our
derivative obligations. As of March 31, 2016, the fair value of derivatives in a net liability position, which includes
accrued interest but excludes any adjustment for nonperformance risk, related to these agreements was $22.3 million.
If we had breached any of these provisions at March 31, 2016, we could have been required to settle our obligations
under the agreements at their termination value of $22.3 million.

As of March 31, 2016, we had three interest rate LIBOR swaps with an aggregate notional value of $465.0 million.
The notional value does not represent exposure to credit, interest rate or market risks. The fair value of these
derivative instruments, which is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated
balance sheet, amounted to $21.3 million at March 31, 2016. These interest rate swaps have been designated as cash
flow hedges and hedge the future cash outflows on our mortgage debt and also on our term loan facility that is subject
to a floating interest rate. As of March 31, 2016, these cash flow hedges are deemed effective and an unrealized loss of
$19.4 million is reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the three
months ended March 31, 2016. Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to
derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the debt. We estimate that no
amount of the current balance held in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) will be reclassified into interest
expense within the next 12 months.
The table below summarizes the terms of agreements and the fair values of our derivative financial instruments as of
March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands):     

As of March 31, 2016 March 31,
2016

December
31, 2015

Derivative Notional
Amount Receive Rate Pay Rate Effective Date Expiration

Date AssetLiability AssetLiability

Interest rate swap $ 265,000 1 Month LIBOR 2.1485%August 31, 2017 August 24,2022 $—$ (9,295 ) $—$ (1,620 )

Interest rate swap 100,000 3 Month LIBOR 2.5050% July 5, 2017 July 5,
2027 —(5,998 ) —(148 )

Interest rate swap 100,000 3 Month LIBOR 2.5050% July 5, 2017 July 5,
2027 —(6,001 ) —(154 )

$—$ (21,294 ) $—$ (1,922 )
The table below shows the effect of our derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges for the three
months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (amounts in thousands):    

Effects of Cash Flow Hedges

Three
Months
Ended
March 31,
2016

Three
Months
Ended
March
31,
2015

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) - effective portion $(19,371) $ —
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into
interest expense - effective portion — —

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in other income/expense - ineffective portion — —

Fair Valuation
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The estimated fair values at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were determined by management, using available
market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market
data and develop estimated fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts we could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The fair value of derivative instruments, which is classified as Level 2, and measured on a recurring basis, is
determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash
flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to
maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. The fair
values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future
fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the
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discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an
expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves.

The fair value of borrowings, which is classified as Level 3, is estimated by discounting the contractual cash flows of
each debt to their present value using adjusted market interest rates, which is provided by a third-party specialist.

The following tables summarize the carrying estimated fair values as of our financial instruments as of March 31,
2016 and December 31, 2015 (amounts in thousands):

March 31, 2016
Carrying
Value Total Level

1 Level 2 Level 3

Interest rate swaps included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $21,294 $21,294 $ —$21,294 $ —
Mortgage notes payable 772,015 780,126 — — 780,126
Senior unsecured notes - Exchangeable 239,025 251,669 — — 251,669
Senior unsecured notes - Series A, B, and C 348,836 360,602 — — 360,602
Unsecured term loan facility 262,640 265,000 — — 265,000
Unsecured revolving credit facility — — — — —

December 31, 2015
Carrying
Value Total Level

1
Level
2 Level 3

Interest rate swaps included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $1,922 $ 1,922 $ —$1,922 $ —
Mortgage notes payable 747,661752,350 — — 752,350
Senior unsecured notes - Exchangeable 238,208251,391 — — 251,391
Senior unsecured notes - Series A, B, and C 348,810344,501 — — 344,501
Unsecured term loan facility 262,545265,000 — — 265,000
Unsecured revolving credit facility 35,192 40,000 — — 40,000
Disclosure about fair value of financial instruments is based on pertinent information available to us as of March 31,
2016 and December 31, 2015. Although we are not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
reasonableness of these fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of
these financial statements since that date and current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from the amounts
presented herein.

7. Rental Income
We lease various office spaces to tenants over terms ranging from one to 16 years. Certain leases have renewal options
for additional terms. The leases provide for base monthly rentals and reimbursements for real estate taxes, escalations
linked to the consumer price index or common area maintenance known as operating expense escalation. Operating
expense reimbursements are reflected in our condensed consolidated statements of income as tenant expense
reimbursement.
8. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings
Except as described below, as of March 31, 2016, we were not involved in any material litigation, nor, to our
knowledge, was any material litigation threatened against us or our properties, other than routine litigation arising in
the ordinary course of business such as disputes with tenants. We believe that the costs and related liabilities, if any,
which may result from such actions will not materially affect our condensed consolidated financial position, operating
results or liquidity.
In March 2012, five putative class actions, or the "Original Class Actions," were filed in New York State Supreme
Court, New York County by investors in certain of the existing entities (constituting the predecessor and the
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non-controlled entities) (the "Existing Entities") on March 1, 2012, March 7, 2012, March 12, 2012, March 14, 2012
and March 19, 2012. The plaintiffs asserted claims against our predecessor’s management companies, Anthony E.
Malkin, Peter L. Malkin, the estate of
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Leona M. Helmsley, our operating partnership and us for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment and/or aiding
and abetting breach of fiduciary duty. They alleged, among other things, that the terms of the consolidation and the
process by which it was structured (including the valuation that was employed) are unfair to the investors in the
Existing Entities, the consolidation provides excessive benefits to Malkin Holdings LLC (now our subsidiary) and its
affiliates and the then-draft prospectus/consent solicitation with respect to the consolidation filed with the SEC failed
to make adequate disclosure to permit a fully-informed decision about the consolidation. The complaints sought
money damages and injunctive relief preventing the consolidation. The Original Class Actions were consolidated and
co-lead plaintiffs’ counsel were appointed by the New York State Supreme Court by order dated June 26, 2012.
Further, an underlying premise of the Original Class Actions, as noted in discussions among plaintiffs' counsel and
defendants' counsel, was that the consolidation had been structured in such a manner that would cause investors in
Empire State Building Associates L.L.C., 60 East 42nd St. Associates L.L.C. and 250 West 57th St. Associates L.L.C.
(the “subject LLCs”) immediately to incur substantial tax liabilities.
The parties entered into a Stipulation of Settlement dated September 28, 2012, resolving the Original Class Actions.
The Stipulation of Settlement recites that the consolidation was approved by overwhelming consent of the investors in
the Existing Entities. The Stipulation of Settlement states that counsel for the plaintiff class satisfied themselves that
they have received adequate access to relevant information, including the independent valuer's valuation process and
methodology, that the disclosures in the Registration Statement on Form S-4, as amended, are appropriate, that the
consolidation presents potential benefits, including the opportunity for liquidity and capital appreciation, that merit the
investors' serious consideration and that each of the named class representatives intends to support the consolidation
as modified. The Stipulation of Settlement further states that counsel for the plaintiff class are satisfied that the claims
regarding tax implications, enhanced disclosures, appraisals and exchange values of the properties that would be
consolidated into our company, and the interests of the investors in the Existing Entities, have been addressed
adequately, and they have concluded that the settlement pursuant to the Stipulation of Settlement and opportunity to
consider the proposed consolidation on the basis of revised consent solicitations are fair, reasonable, adequate and in
the best interests of the plaintiff class.
The defendants in the Stipulation of Settlement denied that they committed any violation of law or breached any of
their duties and did not admit that they had any liability to the plaintiffs.
The terms of the settlement include, among other things (i) a payment of $55.0 million, with a minimum of 80% in
cash and maximum of 20% in freely-tradable shares of common stock and/or freely-tradable operating partnership
units to be distributed, after reimbursement of plaintiffs' counsel's court-approved expenses and payment of plaintiffs'
counsel's court-approved attorneys' fees (which are included within the $55.0 million settlement payment) and, in the
case of shares of common stock and/or operating partnership units, after the termination of specified lock-up periods,
to investors in the Existing Entities pursuant to a plan of allocation to be prepared by counsel for plaintiffs; (ii)
defendants' agreement that (a) the Offering would be on the basis of a firm commitment underwriting; (b) if, during
the solicitation period, any of the three subject LLCs' percentage of total exchange value is lower than what was stated
in the final prospectus/consent solicitation with respect to the consolidation by 10% or more, such decrease would be
promptly disclosed by defendants to investors in the subject LLCs; and (c) unless total gross proceeds of $600.0
million are raised in the Offering, defendants will not proceed with the consolidation without further approval of the
subject LLCs; and (iii) defendants' agreement to make additional disclosures in the prospectus/consent solicitation
with respect to the consolidation regarding certain matters (which are included therein). Investors in the Existing
Entities will not be required to bear any portion of the settlement payment. The payment in settlement of the Original
Class Actions will be made by the estate of Leona M. Helmsley and affiliates of Malkin Holdings LLC (provided that
none of Malkin Holdings LLC's affiliates that would become our direct or indirect subsidiary in the consolidation will
have any liability for such payment) and certain investors in the Existing Entities who agree to contribute. We will not
bear any of the settlement payment.
The settlement further provides for the certification of a class of investors in the Existing Entities, other than
defendants and other related persons and entities, and a release of any claims of the members of the class against the
defendants and related persons and entities, as well as underwriters and other advisors. The release in the settlement
excludes certain claims, including but not limited to, claims arising from or related to any supplement to the

Edgar Filing: Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. - Form 10-Q

33



Registration Statement on Form S-4 that is declared effective to which the plaintiffs' counsel objects in writing, which
objection will not be unreasonably made or delayed, so long as plaintiffs' counsel has had adequate opportunity to
review such supplement. There was no such supplement that plaintiff's counsel objected to in writing. The settlement
was subject to court approval. It was not effective until such court approval is final, including the resolution of any
appeal. Defendants continue to deny any wrongdoing or liability in connection with the allegations in the Original
Class Actions.
On January 18, 2013, the parties jointly moved for preliminary approval of the settlement, for permission to send
notice of the settlement to the class, and for the scheduling of a final settlement hearing. On January 28, 2013, six of
the
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investors in Empire State Building Associates L.L.C. filed an objection to preliminary approval, and cross-moved to
intervene in the Original Class Actions and for permission to file a separate complaint on behalf of the investors in
Empire State Building Associates L.L.C. On February 21, 2013, the court denied the cross motion of such objecting
investors, and the court denied permission for such objecting investors to file a separate complaint as part of the
Original Class Actions, but permitted them to file a brief solely to support their allegation that the buyout would
deprive non-consenting investors in Empire State Building Associates L.L.C. of “fair value” in violation of the New
York Limited Liability Company Law. The court rejected the objecting investors’ assertion that preliminary approval
be denied and granted preliminary approval of the settlement.
Pursuant to a decision issued on April 30, 2013, the court rejected the allegation regarding the New York Limited
Liability Company Law and ruled in Malkin Holdings LLC’s favor, holding that such buyout provisions are legally
binding and enforceable and that investors do not have the rights they claimed under the New York Limited Liability
Company Law.
On May 2, 2013, the court held a hearing regarding final approval of the Original Class Actions settlement, at the
conclusion of which the court stated that it intended to approve the settlement. On May 17, 2013, the court issued its
Opinion and Order. The court rejected the objections by all objectors and upheld the settlement in its entirety. Of the
approximately 4,500 class members who are investors in all of the Existing Entities included in the consolidation, 12
opted out of the settlement. Those who opted out will not receive any share of the settlement proceeds, but can pursue
separate claims for monetary damages.
Also on May 17, 2013, the court issued its Opinion and Order on attorneys’ fees. Class counsel applied for an award of
$15.0 million in fees and $295,895 in expenses, which the court reduced to $11.59 million in fees and $265,282 in
expenses (which are included within the $55.0 million settlement payment).
The investors who challenged the buyout provision filed a notice of appeal of the court’s April 30, 2013 decision and
moved before the appellate court for a stay of all proceedings relating to the settlement, including such a stay as
immediate interim relief. On May 1, 2013, their request for immediate interim relief was denied. On May 13, 2013,
Malkin Holdings LLC filed its brief in opposition to the motion for the stay. On June 18, 2013, the appellate court
denied the motion for the stay. On July 16, 2013, these investors filed their brief and other supporting papers on their
appeal of the April 30, 2013 decision, which are required to perfect the appeal. On September 4, 2013, Malkin
Holdings LLC filed its brief on the appeal, and also moved to dismiss the appeal on the grounds that these investors
lack standing to pursue it. Malkin Holdings LLC contended that these investors were not entitled to appraisal under
the New York Limited Liability Company Law because, among other reasons (i) they are not members of Empire
State Building Associates L.L.C., and only members have such rights; (ii) the transaction in question is not a merger
or consolidation as defined by statute, and appraisal only applies in those transactions; and (iii) when Empire State
Building Associates L.L.C. was converted into a limited liability company, the parties agreed that no appraisal would
apply. Moreover, Malkin Holdings LLC contended that only the 12 investors who opted out of the class action
settlement could pursue appraisal, because that settlement contains a broad release of (and there is an associated bar
order from the court preventing) any such claims. Malkin Holdings LLC further noted that of the six investors
attempting to pursue the appeal, only two had in fact opted out of the class action settlement. On September 13, 2013,
these investors filed their reply brief on the appeal, and opposed the motion to dismiss. On September 19, 2013,
Malkin Holdings LLC filed its reply brief on the motion to dismiss. On October 3, 2013, the appeals court denied the
motion to dismiss without prejudice to address the matter directly on the appeal, effectively referring the issues raised
in the motion to the panel that was to hear the appeal itself. The appeals court heard argument on November 21, 2013,
and in a Decision and Order dated February 25, 2014, it affirmed the trial court’s ruling.
In addition, on June 20, 2013, these same investors, and one additional investor who also opposed the settlement of
the Original Class Action, filed additional notices of appeal from the trial court’s rulings in the Original Class Actions.
These notices of appeal related to (i) the order entered February 22, 2013 granting preliminary approval of the
Original Class Action settlement and setting a hearing for final approval; (ii) the order entered February 26, 2013,
refusing to sign a proposed order to show cause for a preliminary injunction regarding the consolidation; (iii) an order
entered April 2, 2013, denying the motion to intervene and to file a separate class action on behalf of Empire State
Building Associates L.L.C. investors; (iv) the order entered April 10, 2013, refusing to sign the order to show cause
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seeking to extend the deadline for class members to opt out of the Original Class Action settlement; (v) the Final
Judgment and Order entered May 17, 2013; (vi) the order entered May 17, 2013 approving the Original Class Action
settlement; and (vii) the order entered May 17, 2013 awarding class counsel attorneys’ fees and costs. On January 6,
2014, Class counsel moved to dismiss these additional appeals on the grounds that they were not timely perfected by
filing an appellate brief and record. On February 6, 2014, the appeals court granted the motion unless the appeals were
perfected by March 17, 2014.
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On March 27, 2014, the investors who challenged the buyout provision moved in the appellate court for reargument or
in the alternative for leave to appeal the appeals court’s ruling to the New York Court of Appeals. Opposition to the
motion was filed on April 7, 2014. The appellate court denied the motion on May 22, 2014. The investors moved in
the New York Court of Appeals for leave to appeal on June 26, 2014. Opposition to this motion was filed on July 11,
2014 and the court dismissed the motion by order dated September 18, 2014. On October 20, 2014, the investors
moved to re-argue that dismissal. That motion was denied on December 17, 2014, and counsel for these investors has
represented that the investors do not intend to pursue further appellate review of the court’s April 30, 2013 ruling
rejecting the challenge to the buyout provision. On March 3, 2015, plaintiffs' counsel filed a motion with the court for
its approval of distribution of the net settlement fund. In that motion plaintiffs' counsel also asked for additional fees
and expenses to be paid out of the fund. On March 20, 2015, Malkin Holdings LLC filed a response to that motion in
which it supported distribution of the fund and took no position on additional fees and expenses. No opposition to the
motion was filed and the court granted the motion. Substantially all of the net settlement fund has been distributed to
the class, but a small amount remains outstanding.
On March 14, 2014, one of the investors who had filed a notice of appeal from the trial court’s rulings in the Original
Class Actions noted above perfected an appeal from the court’s May 17, 2013 Final Judgment and Order and orders
approving the Original Class Action Settlement and awarding class counsel attorneys’ fees and costs. By stipulation of
all counsel to the appeal dated September 12, 2014, the appeal was dismissed with prejudice. No other appeals were
filed by the March 17, 2014 deadline set by the appeals court in its February 6, 2014 order. The Original Class
Actions Settlement is final and non-appealable.
In addition, commencing December 24, 2013, four putative class actions, or the "Second Class Actions," were filed in
New York State Supreme Court, New York County, against Malkin Holdings LLC, Peter L. Malkin, Anthony E.
Malkin and Thomas N. Keltner, Jr. on behalf of former investors in Empire State Building Associates L.L.C.
Generally, the Second Class Actions alleged that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties and were unjustly
enriched. One of the Second Class Actions named us and our operating partnership as defendants, alleging that they
aided and abetted the breaches of fiduciary duty. The Second Class Actions were consolidated on consent, and co-lead
class counsel was appointed by order dated February 11, 2014. A Consolidated Amended Complaint was filed
February 7, 2014, which did not name us or our operating partnership as defendants. It seeks monetary damages. On
March 7, 2014, defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Second Class Actions, which the plaintiffs opposed and was
fully submitted to the court on April 28, 2014. The court heard oral arguments on the motion on July 7, 2014, and the
motion to dismiss was granted in a ruling entered July 21, 2014. The plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal on August 8,
2014. On January 12, 2015, the plaintiffs filed a motion to supplement the record on appeal to include additional
materials from the Original Class Action, which the defendants opposed. The motion was denied on March 5, 2015.
The plaintiffs perfected this appeal by filing their brief and the appellate record with the court on March 23, 2015.
Oral argument on the appeal was held on October 28, 2015. On November 25, 2015, the appellate court affirmed
dismissal of the Second Class Actions. The plaintiffs moved the appellate court for leave to appeal to the New York
Court of Appeals. On March 1, 2016, the appellate court denied the motion. On March 31, 2016, the plaintiffs moved
for leave to appeal in the New York Court of Appeals. That motion is fully submitted and awaiting a ruling from the
Court of Appeals.
We will incur costs in connection with this litigation. If an appeal were successful and the court were ultimately to
rule against the defendants there is a risk that it could have a material adverse effect on us, which could take the form
of monetary damages or other equitable relief. At this time, due to the spectrum of remedies which may result from
the outcome of the matter and the difficulty in calculating and allocating damages (if any) among the defendants, we
cannot reasonably assess the timing or outcome of this litigation and any related indemnification obligations, estimate
the amount of loss, or assess their effect, if any, on our financial statements.
On or about October 14, 2014, the 12 investors (out of approximately 4,500 investors covered by the Original Class
Actions) who opted out of the Original Class Actions filed an arbitration with the American Arbitration Association
against Peter L. Malkin, Anthony E. Malkin, Thomas N. Keltner, Jr., and Malkin Holdings LLC, as respondents,
alleging breach of fiduciary duty and related claims in connection with the consolidation. The statement of claim in
that arbitration seeks monetary damages and declaratory relief. The respondents filed an answering statement and
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counterclaims. On December 18, 2014, these claimants also filed a complaint in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York alleging the same claims that they asserted in the arbitration. As alleged in the
complaint, the claimants filed this lawsuit to toll the statute of limitations on their claims in the event it is determined
that the claims are not subject to arbitration, and they plan to move to stay the lawsuit in favor of the pending
arbitration. On February 2, 2015, the claimants filed an amended complaint adding an additional claim and making
other non-substantive modifications to the original complaint. On March 12, 2015, the court stayed the action on
consent of all parties pending the arbitration. The arbitration hearings are scheduled to commence May 24, 2016.
As with the prior claims challenging the consolidation and related matters, the defendants believe the allegations in
the arbitration are entirely without merit, and they intend to defend vigorously.
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     In connection with the Offering and formation transactions, we entered into indemnification agreements with our
directors, executive officers and chairman emeritus, providing for the indemnification by us for certain liabilities and
expenses incurred as a result of actions brought, or threatened to be brought, against them. As a result, Anthony E.
Malkin, Peter L. Malkin and Thomas N. Keltner, Jr. have defense and indemnity rights from us with respect to the
Second Class Actions and the above-referenced arbitration.
Additionally, there is a risk that other third parties will assert claims against us, Malkin Holdings LLC, or any other
party entitled to defense and indemnity from us, including, without limitation, claims that Malkin Holdings LLC
breached its fiduciary duties to investors in the Existing Entities or that the consolidation violates the relevant
operating agreements, and third parties may commence litigation related to such claims. As a result, we may incur
costs associated with defending or settling such litigation or paying any judgment if we lose.
Unfunded Capital Expenditures
At March 31, 2016, we estimate that we will incur approximately $59.5 million of capital expenditures (including
tenant improvements and leasing commissions) on our consolidated properties pursuant to existing lease agreements.
We expect to fund these capital expenditures with operating cash flow, additional property level mortgage financings,
our unsecured revolving credit facility, other issuances of debt, and cash on hand. Future property acquisitions may
require substantial capital investments for refurbishment and leasing costs. We expect that these financing
requirements will be met in a similar fashion.

Ground Leases
Aggregate required payments on ground leases at March 31, 2016 are as follows (amounts in thousands):
2016 $1,139
2017 1,518
2018 1,518
2019 1,518
2020 1,518
Thereafter56,730

$63,941

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that subject us to credit risk consist primarily of cash, restricted cash, tenant and other
receivables and deferred rent receivables. At March 31, 2016, we held on deposit at various major financial
institutions cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances in excess of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation.
Asset Retirement Obligations
We are required to accrue costs that we are legally obligated to incur on retirement of our properties which result from
acquisition, construction, development and/or normal operation of such properties. Retirement includes sale,
abandonment or disposal of a property. Under that standard, a conditional asset retirement obligation represents a
legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement is conditional
on a future event that may or may not be within a company’s control and a liability for a conditional asset retirement
obligation must be recorded if the fair value of the obligation can be reasonably estimated. Environmental site
assessments and investigations have identified asbestos or asbestos-containing building materials in certain of our
properties. As of March 31, 2016, management has no plans to remove or alter these properties in a manner that would
trigger federal and other applicable regulations for asbestos removal, and accordingly, the obligations to remove the
asbestos or asbestos-containing building materials from these properties have indeterminable settlement dates. As
such, we are unable to reasonably estimate the fair value of the associated conditional asset retirement obligation.
However ongoing asbestos abatement, maintenance programs and other required documentation are carried out as
required and related costs are expensed as incurred.
Other Environmental Matters
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Certain of our properties have been inspected for soil contamination due to pollutants, which may have occurred prior
to our ownership of these properties or subsequently in connection with its development and/or its use. Required
remediation to such properties has been completed, and as of March 31, 2016, our management believes that there are
no obligations related to environmental remediation other than maintaining the affected sites in conformity with the
relevant authority’s mandates and filing the required documents. All such maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.
We expect that resolution of the environmental matters relating to the above will not have a material impact on our
business, assets, consolidated financial
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condition, results of operations or liquidity. However, we cannot be certain that we have identified all environmental
liabilities at our properties, that all necessary remediation actions have been or will be undertaken at our properties or
that we will be indemnified, in full or at all, in the event that such environmental liabilities arise.
Insurance Coverage
We carry insurance coverage on our properties of types and in amounts with deductibles that we believe are in line
with coverage customarily obtained by owners of similar properties.

9. Equity
Shares and Units 
An operating partnership unit ("OP Unit") and a share of our common stock have essentially the same economic
characteristics as they receive the same per unit profit distributions of our operating partnership. On the one-year
anniversary of issuance, an OP Unit may be tendered for redemption for cash; however, we have sole and absolute
discretion, and the authorized common stock, to exchange OP Units for shares of common stock on a one-for-one
basis instead of cash.
Long-term incentive plan ("LTIP") units are a special class of partnership interests in our operating partnership. Each
LTIP unit awarded will be deemed equivalent to an award of one share of stock under the Empire State Realty Trust,
Inc. and Empire State OP, L.P. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan ("2013 Plan"), reducing the availability for other equity
awards on a one-for-one basis. The vesting period for LTIP units, if any, will be determined at the time of issuance.
Under the terms of the LTIP units, our operating partnership will revalue for tax purposes its assets upon the
occurrence of certain specified events, and any increase in valuation from the time of grant until such event will be
allocated first to the holders of LTIP units to equalize the capital accounts of such holders with the capital accounts of
OP unitholders. Subject to any agreed upon exceptions, once vested and having achieved parity with OP unitholders,
LTIP units are convertible into OP Units in our operating partnership on a one-for-one basis.
With the exception of performance based LTIP units granted in 2016, all LTIP units issued in connection with annual
equity awards, whether vested or not, receive the same per unit distributions as operating partnership units, which
equal
per share dividends (both regular and special) on our common stock. Performance based LTIP units granted in 2016
will receive 10% of such distributions currently, unless and until such LTIP units are earned based on performance, at
which time they will receive the accrued and unpaid 90% and will commence receiving 100% of such distributions.

The following is net income attributable to common stockholders and the issuance of our Class A shares in exchange
for the conversion of OP Units into common stock (amounts in thousands):

Three
Months
Ended
March
31,
2016

Three
Months
Ended
March
31,
2015

Net income attributable to common stockholders $7,428 $3,138
Increase in additional paid-in capital for the conversion of OP Units into common stock 6,858 19,493
Change from net income attributable to common stockholders and transfers from noncontrolling
interests $14,286 $22,631

As of March 31, 2016, there were 269,438,815 OP Units outstanding, of which 121,746,700, or 45.2%, were owned
by us and 147,692,115, or 54.8%, were owned by other limited partners, including certain directors, officers and other
members of executive management.
Dividends and Distributions
Total dividends paid to common stockholders were $10.3 million and $9.4 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Total distributions paid to OP unitholders, excluding inter-company
distributions, were $12.6 million and $13.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Total distributions paid to preferred unitholders were $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and
2015.
Incentive and Share-Based Compensation
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The 2013 Plan provides for grants to directors, employees and consultants consisting of stock options, restricted stock,
dividend equivalents, stock payments, performance shares, LTIP units, stock appreciation rights and other incentive
awards. An aggregate of 12.2 million shares of our common stock is authorized for issuance under awards granted
pursuant to the 2013 Plan, and as of March 31, 2016, 8.3 million shares of common stock remain available for future
issuance.
In January 2015, we made a grant of LTIP units to an employee under the 2013 Plan. We granted a total of 9,531
LTIP units with a fair market value of $0.2 million. The award is subject to time-based vesting and all LTIP units vest
on April 1, 2020, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment.
In February 2015, we made grants of LTIP units to executive officers under the 2013 Plan. At such time, we granted a
total of 168,033 LTIP units that are subject to time-based vesting and 154,266 LTIP units that are subject to
performance-based vesting, with fair market values of $2.9 million for the time-based vesting awards and $1.3 million
for the performance-based vesting awards. The awards subject to time-based vesting vest ratably over four years from
January 1, 2015, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment. The first installment vests on the first-year
anniversary date of January 1, 2015 and the remainder will vest thereafter in three equal annual installments. The
vesting of the LTIP units subject to performance-based vesting is based on the achievement of absolute and relative
total stockholder return hurdles over a three-year performance period, commencing on January 1, 2015. Following the
completion of the three-year performance period, our compensation committee will determine the number of LTIP
units to which the grantee is entitled based on our performance relative to the performance hurdles set forth in the
LTIP unit award agreements the grantee entered into in connection with the award grant. These units then vest in two
installments, with the first installment vesting on January 1, 2018 and the second installment vesting on January 1,
2019, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment on those dates.

In February 2015, we made grants of LTIP units and restricted stock to certain other employees under the 2013 Plan.
At such time, we granted a total of 33,398 LTIP units and 14,315 shares of restricted stock that are subject to
time-based vesting and 33,398 LTIP units and 14,315 shares of restricted stock that are subject to performance-based
vesting, with fair market values of $0.8 million for the time-based vesting awards and $0.4 million for the
performance-based vesting awards. The awards subject to time-based vesting vest ratably over four years from
January 1, 2015, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment. The first installment vests on the first-year
anniversary date of January 1, 2015 and the remainder will vest thereafter in three equal annual installments. The
vesting of the awards subject to performance-based vesting is based on the achievement of absolute and relative total
stockholder return hurdles over a three-year performance period, commencing on January 1, 2015. Following the
completion of the three-year performance period, our compensation committee will determine the number of LTIP
units or shares to which the grantee is entitled based on our performance relative to the performance hurdles set forth
in the award agreements the grantee entered into in connection with the award grant. These units and shares then vest
in two installments, with the first installment vesting on January 1, 2018 and the second installment vesting on
January 1, 2019, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment on those dates.

In February 2015, we made a grant of LTIP units to an executive officer under the 2013 Plan. At such time, we
granted a total of 13,736 LTIP units that are subject to time-based vesting and 13,736 LTIP units that are subject to
performance-based vesting, with fair market values of $0.2 million for the time-based vesting awards and $0.1 million
for the performance-based vesting awards. The awards subject to time-based vesting vest ratably over four years from
the date of the grant, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment. The first installment vests on the
first-year anniversary date of the grant and the remainder will vest thereafter in three equal annual installments. The
vesting of the LTIP units subject to performance-based vesting is based on the achievement of absolute and relative
total stockholder return hurdles over a three-year performance period, commencing on February 1, 2015. Following
the completion of the three-year performance period, our compensation committee will determine the number of LTIP
units to which the grantee is entitled based on our performance relative to the performance hurdles set forth in the
LTIP unit award agreements the grantee entered into in connection with the award grant. These units then vest in two
installments, with the first installment vesting on February 1, 2018 and the second installment vesting on February 1,
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2019, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment on those dates.

In June 2015, we made grants of LTIP units to our non-employee directors under the 2013 Plan. At such time, we
granted a total of 35,082 LTIP units that are subject to time-based vesting, with fair market values of $0.6 million. The
awards vest ratably over three years from the date of the grant, subject generally to the director's continued service on
our Board of Directors.
We have made other grants during 2015 with fair market values of less than $0.1 million in the aggregate.
In February 2016, we made grants of LTIP units to executive officers under the 2013 Plan. At such time, we granted a
total of 368,225 LTIP units that are subject to time-based vesting and 1,230,228 LTIP units that are subject to
performance-based vesting, with fair market values of $5.6 million for the time-based vesting awards and $8.8 million
for the performance-
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based vesting awards. The awards subject to time-based vesting vest ratably over four years from January 1, 2016,
subject generally to the grantee's continued employment. The first installment vests on January 1, 2017 and the
remainder will vest thereafter in three equal annual installments. The vesting of the LTIP units subject to
performance-based vesting is based on the achievement of absolute and relative total stockholder return hurdles over a
three-year performance period, commencing on January 1, 2016. Following the completion of the three-year
performance period, our compensation committee will determine the number of LTIP units to which the grantee is
entitled based on our performance relative to the performance hurdles set forth in the LTIP unit award agreements the
grantee entered into in connection with the award grant. These units then vest in two installments, with the first
installment vesting on January 1, 2019 and the second installment vesting on January 1, 2020, subject generally to the
grantee's continued employment on those dates.
In February 2016, we made a grant of LTIP units to an executive officer under the 2013 Plan. We granted a total of
62,814 LTIP units with a fair market value of $1.0 million. The award is subject to time-based vesting of 30% after
three years, 30% after four years, and 40% after five years, subject to the grantee's continued employment.
In February 2016, we made grants of LTIP units and restricted stock to certain other employees under the 2013 Plan.
At such time, we granted a total of 47,168 LTIP units and 44,198 shares of restricted stock that are subject to
time-based vesting and 112,925 LTIP units that are subject to performance-based vesting, with fair market values of
$1.4 million for the time-based vesting awards and $0.8 million for the performance-based vesting awards. The
awards subject to time-based vesting vest ratably over four years from January 1, 2016, subject generally to the
grantee's continued employment. The first installment vests on January 1, 2017 and the remainder will vest thereafter
in three equal annual installments. The vesting of the awards subject to performance-based vesting is based on the
achievement of absolute and relative total stockholder return hurdles over a three-year performance period,
commencing on January 1, 2016. Following the completion of the three-year performance period, our compensation
committee will determine the number of LTIP units to which the grantee is entitled based on our performance relative
to the performance hurdles set forth in the award agreements the grantee entered into in connection with the award
grant. These units and shares then vest in two installments, with the first installment vesting on January 1, 2019 and
the second installment vesting on January 1, 2020, subject generally to the grantee's continued employment on those
dates.
Share-based compensation is measured at the fair value of the award on the date of grant and recognized as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. For the performance-based LTIP units and restricted stock awards, the
fair value of the awards was estimated using a Monte Carlo Simulation model.  Our stock price, along with the prices
of the comparative indexes, is assumed to follow the Geometric Brownian Motion Process.  Geometric Brownian
Motion is a common assumption when modeling in financial markets, as it allows the modeled quantity (in this case
the stock price) to vary randomly from its current value and take any value greater than zero.  The volatilities of the
returns on our stock price and the comparative indexes were estimated based on implied volatilities and historical
volatilities using a six-year look-back period.  The expected growth rate of the stock prices over the performance
period is determined with consideration of the risk free rate as of the grant date.  For LTIP units and restricted stock
grants that are time-vesting, we estimate the stock compensation expense based on the fair value of the stock at the
grant date.
Share-based compensation expense has been adjusted by an amount of estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated
based on historical experience at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. Based on an analysis of historical data, we have calculated a 0% annual forfeiture rate for
members of the Board of Directors, a 0% annual forfeiture rate for executive officers, and for all other employees a
5% annual forfeiture rate. We reevaluate this analysis periodically and adjust these estimated forfeiture rates as
necessary. To the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from our current estimates, such amounts will be
recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period estimates are revised.
LTIP units and restricted stock issued during the three months ended March 31, 2016 were valued at $17.5 million.
The weighted-average per unit or share fair value was $9.38 for grants issued in 2016. The per unit or share granted in
2016 was estimated on the respective dates of grant using the following assumptions: an expected life of 2.8 years, a
dividend rate of 2.10%, a risk-free interest rate of 0.84% and an expected price volatility of 24.0%.
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No other stock options, dividend equivalents, or stock appreciation rights were issued or outstanding in 2016.
The following is a summary of restricted stock and LTIP unit activity for the three months ended March 31, 2016:
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Restricted
Stock

LTIP
Units

Weighted
Average
Grant
Price

Unvested balance at December 31, 2015 97,592 1,415,895 $ 15.20
Vested (4,350 ) (100,595 ) 16.52
Granted 44,198 1,821,360 15.92
Forfeited — — —
Unvested balance at March 31, 2016 137,440 3,136,660 $ 15.57
The LTIP unit and restricted stock awards will immediately vest upon the later of (i) the date the grantee attains the
age of 60 and (ii) the date on which grantee has first completed ten years of continuous service with our company or
its affiliates. For award agreements that qualify, we recognize noncash compensation expense on the grant date for the
time-based awards and ratably over the vesting period for the performance-based awards, and accordingly, we
recognized $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and $0.5 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2015. Unrecognized compensation expense was $0.7 million at March 31, 2016, which will be recognized
over a period of 2.5 years.
For the remainder of the LTIP unit and restricted stock awards, we recognize noncash compensation expense ratably
over the vesting period, and accordingly, we recognized noncash compensation expense of $1.7 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2016 and $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. Unrecognized
compensation expense was $25.1 million at March 31, 2016, which will be recognized over a weighted average period
of 3.0 years.
Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 is computed as follows (amounts in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months
Ended
March 31,
2016

March 31,
2015

Numerator - Basic:
Net income $16,705 $ 7,888
Private perpetual preferred unit distributions (234 ) (234 )
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests (9,043 ) (4,516 )
Earnings allocated to unvested shares (8 ) (7 )
Net income attributable to common stockholders - basic $7,420 $ 3,131

Numerator - Diluted:
Net income $16,705 $ 7,888
Private perpetual preferred unit distributions (234 ) (234 )
Earnings allocated to unvested shares and LTIP units (172 ) (144 )
Net income attributable to common stockholders - diluted $16,299 $ 7,510

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 120,778 109,400
Operating partnership units 145,356 156,410
Effect of dilutive securities -
   Stock-based compensation plans 507 —
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 266,641 265,810

Earnings per share:
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Basic $0.06 $ 0.03
Diluted $0.06 $ 0.03
There were no antidilutive shares and LTIP units and 630,843 antidilutive shares and LTIP units for the three months
ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015, respectively.
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10. Related Party Transactions

Supervisory Fee Revenue

We earned supervisory fees from affiliated entities not included in our condensed consolidated financial statements of
$0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. These fees are included within third-party
management and other fees.
Property Management Fee Revenue
We earned property management fees from affiliated entities not included in our condensed consolidated financial
statements of $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. These fees are included within
third-party management and other fees.
Other
We are reimbursed at allocable cost for 647 square feet of shared office space, equipment, and administrative support,
as was done prior to our formation, and we receive rent generally at market rental rate for 3,074 square feet of leased
space, from entities affiliated with Anthony E. Malkin at one of our properties aggregating $0.05 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. In each case the space is expected to be temporary, and such affiliate has the
right to cancel such lease without special payment on 90 days’ notice.
One of our directors is a general partner in an investment fund, which owns more than a 10% economic and voting
interest in one of our tenants with an annualized rent of $5.8 million as of March 31, 2016.
11. Segment Reporting
We have identified two reportable segments: (1) real estate and (2) observatory. Our real estate segment includes all
activities related to the ownership, management, operation, acquisition, redevelopment, repositioning and disposition
of our real estate assets. Our observatory segment includes the operation of the 86th and 102nd floor observatories at
the Empire State Building. These two lines of businesses are managed separately because each business requires
different support infrastructures, provides different services and has dissimilar economic characteristics such as
investments needed, stream of revenues and marketing strategies. We account for intersegment sales and transfers as if
the sales or transfers were to third parties, that is, at current market prices. We include our historical construction
operation in "Other," and it includes all activities related to providing construction services to tenants and to other
entities within and outside our company. As of March 27, 2015, we no longer solicited new business for our
construction management business. We completed all projects that were in progress.

The following tables provide components of segment profit for each segment for the three months ended March 31,
2016 and 2015 (amounts in thousands):
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2016

Real Estate Observatory Intersegment
Elimination Total

Revenues:
Rental revenue $114,908 $— $ — $114,908
Intercompany rental revenue 13,718 — (13,718 ) —
Tenant expense reimbursement 18,120 — — 18,120
Observatory revenue — 21,181 — 21,181
Third-party management and other fees 545 — — 545
Other revenue and fees 2,320 — — 2,320
Total revenues 149,611 21,181 (13,718 ) 157,074
Operating expenses:
Property operating expenses 39,104 — — 39,104
Intercompany rent expense — 13,718 (13,718 ) —
Ground rent expense 2,333 — — 2,333
General and administrative expenses 10,918 — — 10,918
Observatory expenses — 7,755 — 7,755
Real estate taxes 23,525 — — 23,525
Acquisition expenses 98 — — 98
Depreciation and amortization 39,130 97 — 39,227
Total operating expenses 115,108 21,570 (13,718 ) 122,960
Total operating income (loss) 34,503 (389 ) — 34,114
Interest expense (17,951 ) — — (17,951 )
Income (loss) before income taxes 16,552 (389 ) — 16,163
Income tax benefit (expense) (405 ) 947 — 542
Net income $16,147 $ 558 $ — $16,705
Segment assets $3,015,802 $ 247,569 $ — $3,263,371
Expenditures for segment assets $23,458 $— $ — $23,458
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2015

Real Estate Observatory Other Intersegment
EliminationTotal

Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 110,058 $ — $ —$—$110,058
Intercompany
rental revenue 11,664 — — (11,664) —

Tenant expense
reimbursement 18,200 — — — 18,200

Observatory
revenue — 18,223 — — 18,223

Construction
revenue — — 3,922 (2,315) 1,607

Third-party
management and
other fees

446 — — — 446

Other revenue and
fees 3,348 — — — 3,348

Total revenues 143,716 18,223 &#1:bottom;background-color:#cceeff;padding-left:2px;padding-top:2px;padding-bottom:2px;padding-right:2px;">16,373 11,953

Deferred income
tax expense
(benefit)

550 4,363 (2,532 )

Other non-cash
expenses 44 138 109

Changes in
operating assets
and liabilities:
Inventories (56,599 ) (32,589 ) (6,079 )
Prepaid income
taxes 927 (1,277 ) (211 )

Prepaid expenses
and other assets (15,655 ) (16,366 ) (14,875 )

Accounts payable 32,866 19,809 (5,451 )
Income taxes
payable (4,649 ) 1,902 11,997

Accrued salaries
and wages 1,680 12,112 3,133

Deferred rent 12,143 15,886 7,855
Other accrued
expenses 9,712 11,338 2,252

Net cash provided
by operating
activities

184,133 167,381 106,622

Investing activities:
Purchases of
investment
securities

(117,371 ) (234,856 ) (119,746 )

191,619 163,501 77,776
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Sales, maturities,
and redemptions of
investment
securities
Capital
expenditures (113,720 ) (67,795 ) (44,794 )

Net cash used in
investing activities (39,472 ) (139,150 ) (86,764 )

Financing
activities:
Net proceeds from
issuance of
common stock

365 251 208

Repurchase and
retirement of
common stock

(1,987 ) — —

Proceeds from
exercise of options
to purchase
common stock and
vesting of restricted
and
performance-based
restricted stock
units

4,030 9,603 3,290

Common shares
withheld for taxes (7,990 ) (1,504 ) (1,904 )

Excess tax benefit
related to exercises
of stock options
and vesting of
restricted and
performance-based
restricted stock
units

— — 1,555

Net cash (used in)
provided by
financing activities

(5,582 ) 8,350 3,149

Net increase in
cash and cash
equivalents

139,079 36,581 23,007

Cash and cash
equivalents at
beginning of year

112,669 76,088 53,081

Cash and cash
equivalents at end
of year

$251,748 $112,669 $ 76,088

Supplemental
disclosures of cash
flow information:
Interest paid $3 $4 $ 10
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Income taxes paid $45,589 $51,405 $ 31,762
Non-cash investing
activities
Increase in
accounts payable
and accrued
purchases of
property and
equipment

$48,723 $3,093 $ 511

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE BELOW, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1)Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a)Description of Business
Five Below, Inc. (collectively with its wholly owned subsidiary as the "Company") is a specialty value retailer
offering merchandise targeted at the tween and teen demographic. The Company offers an edited assortment of
products, priced at $5 and below. The Company’s edited assortment of products includes select brands and licensed
merchandise. The Company believes its merchandise is readily available and that there are a number of potential
vendors that could be utilized, if necessary, under approximately the same terms the Company is currently receiving;
thus, it is not dependent on a single vendor or a group of vendors.
The Company is incorporated in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and, as of February 2, 2019, operated in 33
states that include Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, West
Virginia, North Carolina, New York, Connecticut, Rhode Island, Ohio, Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Missouri, Georgia,
Texas, Tennessee, Maine, Alabama, Kentucky, Kansas, Florida, South Carolina, Mississippi, Louisiana, Wisconsin,
Oklahoma, Minnesota, California and Arkansas. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company operated
750 stores and 625 stores, respectively, each operating under the name “Five Below”, and in August 2016, the Company
commenced selling merchandise on the internet, through the Company's fivebelow.com e-commerce website.
The Company's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Five Below, Inc. and its subsidiary (1616
Holdings, Inc., formerly known as Five Below Merchandising, Inc.). All intercompany transactions and accounts are
eliminated in the consolidation of the Company's and subsidiary's financial statements.
(b)Fiscal Year
The Company operates on a 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to January 31.  References to
"fiscal year 2018" or "fiscal 2018" refer to the period from February 4, 2018 to February 2, 2019, which consists of a
52-week fiscal year. References to "fiscal year 2017" or "fiscal 2017" refer to the period from January 29, 2017 to
February 3, 2018, which consists of a 53-week fiscal year. References to "fiscal year 2016" or "fiscal 2016" refer to
the period from January 31, 2016 to January 28, 2017, which consists of a 52-week fiscal year.
(c)Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity date of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. Our cash equivalents consist of credit and debit card receivables, money market
funds, corporate bonds and municipal bonds, which are classified as cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The majority of payments due from banks for third-party credit card and debit card
transactions resulting from customer purchases at the Company’s retail stores process within 24 to 48 hours, except for
transactions occurring on a Friday, which are generally processed the following Monday. Amounts due from banks for
these transactions classified as cash equivalents totaled $7.4 million and $6.0 million as of February 2, 2019 and
February 3, 2018, respectively. Book overdrafts, which are outstanding checks in excess of funds on deposit, are
recorded within accounts payable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and within operating activities in
the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company
had cash equivalents of $215.7 million and $91.2 million, respectively.
(d)Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are
classified using the following hierarchy, which is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation at the
measurement date:
Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs, other than Level 1, that are either directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs developed using the Company’s estimates and assumptions which reflect those that
market participants would use.
The classification of fair value measurements within the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the measurement.
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The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investment
securities, accounts payable, and borrowings under a line of credit (as defined in note 4). The Company believes that:
(1) the carrying value of cash equivalents and accounts payable are representative of their respective fair value due to
the short-term nature of these instruments; and (2) the carrying value of the any current or future borrowings under the
line of credit approximates their fair value because the line of credit’s interest rates vary with market interest rates.
Under the fair value hierarchy, the fair market values of the investments in corporate bonds are level 1 while the
investments in municipal bonds are level 2. The fair market values of level 2 investments are determined by
management with the assistance of a third party pricing service. Since quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets are not available, these prices are determined by the third party pricing service using observable market
information such as quotes from less active markets and quoted prices of similar securities.
As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company's short-term and long-term investment securities are
classified as held-to-maturity since the Company has the intent and ability to hold the investments to maturity. Such
securities are carried at amortized cost plus accrued interest and consist of the following (in thousands):

As of February 2, 2019

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Market
Value

Short-term:
Corporate bonds $83,128 $ —$ 63 $83,065
Municipal bonds 2,284 — 2 2,282
Total $85,412 $ —$ 65 $85,347

As of February 3, 2018

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Market
Value

Short-term:
Corporate bonds $117,373 $ —$ 177 $117,196
Municipal bonds 14,585 — — 14,585
Total $131,958 $ —$ 177 $131,781

Long-term:
Corporate bonds $25,465 $ —$ 170 $25,295
Municipal bonds 2,237 — 2 2,235
Total $27,702 $ —$ 172 $27,530
Short-term investment securities as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018 all mature in one year or less.
Long-term investment securities as of February 3, 2018 all mature after one year but in less than three years.
(e)Inventories
Inventories consist of finished goods purchased for resale, including freight, and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value, at the individual product level. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost method. Management
of the Company reviews inventory levels in order to identify slow-moving merchandise and uses markdowns to clear
merchandise. Inventory cost is reduced when the selling price less costs of disposal is below cost. The Company
accrues an estimate for inventory shrink for the period between the last physical count and the balance sheet date. The
shrink estimate can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shrink trends.

(f) Prepaid Expenses and Other Current
Assets

Prepaid expenses in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 were $26.1 million and $17.8 million, respectively. Other current
assets in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 were $34.0 million and $27.6 million, respectively.

56

Edgar Filing: Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. - Form 10-Q

56



Edgar Filing: Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. - Form 10-Q

57



(g)Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Additions and improvements are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance
are charged to expense as incurred.
Depreciation and amortization is recorded using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives
of the assets or the terms of the respective leases, if applicable. The estimated useful lives are three to ten years for
furniture and fixtures and computers and equipment. Store leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of
the useful life or the lease term plus assumed extensions, which is generally 10 years. Leasehold improvements
located in the distribution centers and the new corporate headquarters are amortized over the shorter of the useful life
or the lease term. Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment, which is included in selling,
general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, was $41.5 million,
$33.2 million and $26.6 million in fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, respectively.
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following (in thousands):

February
2, 2019

February
3, 2018

Land $7,150 $—
Furniture and fixtures 145,254 114,394
Leasehold improvements 166,374 133,460
Computers and equipment 69,739 44,923
Construction in process 81,368 15,251
Property and equipment, gross 469,885 308,028
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (168,588 ) (127,679 )
Property and equipment, net $301,297 $180,349
(h)Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped and evaluated
for impairment at the lowest level of which there are identifiable cash flows, which is generally at a store level. Assets
are reviewed for impairment using factors including, but not limited to, the Company's future operating plans and
projected cash flows. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount
of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, then an impairment charge is recognized by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Fair value is based on discounted
future cash flows of the asset using a discount rate commensurate with the risk. In the event of a store closure, the
Company will record an impairment charge, if appropriate, or accelerate depreciation over the revised useful life of
the asset. Based on its Company's most recent analysis, management believes that no impairment of long-lived assets
exists for the period ended February 2, 2019.
(i)Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the related credit agreement. Amortization
expense in fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 was $40.4 thousand and $27.0 thousand, respectively. As of February 2, 2019
and February 3, 2018, the Company had an immaterial balance remaining on the balance sheet.
(j)Operating Leases
The Company leases store locations, distribution centers, the corporate headquarters and equipment used in its
operations and evaluates and classifies its leases as operating or capital leases for financial reporting purposes. Any
assets held under a capital lease are included in property and equipment, net.
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Operating lease expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term. At the inception of a lease, the
Company determines the lease term, which includes periods under the exercise of renewal options that are reasonably
assured. Renewal options are exercised at the Company's sole discretion. In September 2016, the Company signed a
15 year lease for a new corporate headquarters location in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The Company currently
occupies approximately 117,000 square feet of office space and will expand into approximately 50,000 square feet of
additional office space by no later than 2020. The lease agreement expires in early 2033 with three successive options
to renew for additional term up to approximately fifteen years. The distribution center in Olive Branch, Mississippi is
leased under a lease agreement expiring in 2022 with options to renew for three successive five-year periods. The
distribution center in Pedricktown, New Jersey is leased under a lease agreement expiring in 2025 with options to
renew for three successive five-year periods. Generally, the Company’s store leases have expected lease terms of ten
years, which are comprised of an initial term of ten years or an initial term of five years and one assumed five-year
extension, resulting in a ten-year life. The expected lease term is used to determine whether a lease is capital or
operating and to calculate straight-line rent expense.
Substantially all of the Company's leases include options that allow the Company to renew or extend the lease term
beyond the initial lease period, subject to terms and conditions agreed upon at the inception of the lease. Such terms
and conditions include rental rates agreed upon at the inception of the lease that could represent below or above
market rental rates later in the life of the lease, depending upon market conditions at the time of such renewal or
extension. In addition, the Company's leases may include early termination options.
(k)Capital Leases
The Company establishes assets and liabilities for the estimated construction costs incurred under lease arrangements
where the Company is considered the owner for accounting purposes only, or build-to-suit leases, to the extent the
Company is involved in the construction of structural improvements or takes construction risk prior to commencement
of a lease. Upon occupancy of facilities under build-to-suit leases, the Company assesses whether these arrangements
qualify for sales recognition under the sale-leaseback accounting guidance. If the transaction does not qualify for sales
recognition under the sale-leaseback accounting guidance, the Company continues to be the deemed accounting
owner. As of February 2, 2019, the Company had approximately $7 million of a capital lease land asset and liability.
There were no material capital leases as of February 3, 2018.
(l)Other Accrued Expenses
Other accrued expenses include accrued capital expenditures of $54.2 million and $5.0 million in fiscal 2018 and
fiscal 2017, respectively.
(m)Deferred Rent and Other
Certain of the Company’s operating leases contain either rent holidays and/or predetermined fixed escalations of
minimum rental payments during the original and/or extended lease terms. For these leases, the Company recognizes
the related rent expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease and records the difference between the
amounts charged to operations and amounts paid as deferred rent. The life of the lease is the initial term plus assumed
extensions. The Company also receives certain lease incentives in conjunction with entering into operating leases.
These lease incentives are recorded as deferred rent at the beginning of the lease term and recognized as a reduction of
rent expense over the lease term. In addition, certain of the Company’s leases contain future contingent increases in
rents. Such increases in rent expense are recorded in the period in which such contingent increases to the rents take
place.
The following table summarizes the Company's deferred rent and other long-term liabilities balances (in thousands):

February
2, 2019

February
3, 2018

Current:
Deferred rent (1) $8,228 $5,707
Total current liabilities $8,228 $5,707

Long-term:
Deferred rent $84,065 $72,547
Other — 143
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Total long-term liabilities $84,065 $72,690
(1)The current portion of deferred rent is included in the other accrued expenses line item in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
(n)Share-Based Compensation
The Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for share-based compensation based on
the grant date fair value of the employee stock award. The Company recognizes compensation expense generally on a
straight-line basis over the employee's requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant) based
on the estimated grant date fair value of restricted stock units ("RSUs") and performance-based restricted stock units
("PSUs") and uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for grants of stock options.
The fair value of restricted stock awards are based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on the grant
date and the fair value of stock options are based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model utilizing the closing price
of the Company's common stock on the grant date as the fair value of common stock in the model. Future share-based
compensation cost will increase when the Company grants additional equity awards. Modifications, cancellations or
repurchases of awards after the grant date may require the Company to accelerate any remaining unearned share-based
compensation cost or incur incremental compensation costs. Share-based compensation cost recognized and included
in expenses for fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, was $12.0 million, $16.4 million and $12.0 million,
respectively.
(o)Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized at the point of sale when control of the product is transferred to the customer at such time.
Internet sales, through the Company's fivebelow.com e-commerce website, are recognized when the consumer
receives the product as control transfers upon delivery. Returns are accepted under certain conditions within 14 days
of purchase. Returns subsequent to the period end are immaterial; accordingly, no reserve has been recorded. Gift card
sales to customers are initially recorded as liabilities and recognized as sales upon redemption for merchandise or as
breakage revenue in proportion to the pattern of redemption of the gift cards by the consumer in net sales. Sales tax
collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are accounted for on a net basis and, therefore,
excluded from sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
(p)Shipping and Handling Revenues and Costs
The Company includes all shipping and handling revenue from e-commerce sales in net sales. Shipping and handling
costs, which are included in cost of goods sold in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, include
both internal and third-party fulfillment and shipping costs related to the Company's e-commerce operations.
(q)Cost of Goods Sold
Cost of goods sold reflects the direct costs of purchased merchandise and inbound freight, as well as store occupancy,
distribution and buying expenses. Store occupancy costs include rent, common area maintenance, utilities and
property taxes for all store locations. Distribution costs include costs for receiving, processing, warehousing and
shipping of merchandise to or from the Company's distribution centers and between store locations. Buying costs
include compensation expense for the Company's internal buying organization.

(r) Selling, General and Administrative
Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include payroll and other compensation, marketing and advertising
expense, depreciation and amortization expense, and other selling and administrative expenses.
(s)Vendor Allowances
The Company receives various incentives in the form of allowances, free product and promotional funds from its
vendors based on product purchases and advertising activities. The amounts received are subject to changes in market
conditions, vendor marketing strategies and changes in the profitability or sell-through of the related merchandise for
the Company. Merchandise allowances are recorded in cost of goods and recognized in the period the related
merchandise is sold. Marketing allowances are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses and are
recognized in the period the related advertising occurs to the extent the allowance is a reimbursement that is specific
and incremental, and identifiable costs have been incurred by the Company to sell the vendor’s products. To the extent
these conditions are not met, these allowances are recorded as merchandise allowances.
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(t)Store Pre-Opening Costs
Costs incurred between completion of a new store location’s construction and its opening (pre-opening costs) are
charged to expense as incurred. Pre-opening costs were $6.5 million, $6.2 million and $5.1 million in fiscal 2018,
fiscal 2017, and fiscal 2016, respectively, and are recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
based on the nature of the expense.
(u)Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are charged to expense the first time the advertising takes place. Advertising expenses were $42.2
million, $30.8 million and $27.4 million in fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, respectively, and are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
(v)Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset-and-liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The
Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being
sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.
The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets when uncertainty regarding their
realizability exists. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.
For the fiscal year ended February 3, 2018, the Company recorded a provisional net tax benefit of $0.5 million related
to the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA"). This provisional tax benefit included a one-time $1.5 million
remeasurement charge of the net U.S. deferred tax assets to the lower enacted U.S. corporate tax rate of 21% and a
$2.0 million tax benefit related to the Company’s 2017 blended rate of 33.7% as a result of Section 15 of the Internal
Revenue Code. December 22, 2018 marked the end of the measurement period for purposes of SAB 118. As such, the
Company has completed the analysis based on legislative updates relating to the U.S. TCJA currently available and
recorded no additional tax impacts for the year ended February 2, 2019. While the Company has completed its
accounting of the income tax effects of the U.S. TCJA under SAB 118, the related tax impacts may differ, possibly
materially, due to changes in interpretations and assumptions that the Company has made, additional guidance that
may be issued by regulatory bodies, and actions and related accounting policy decisions the Company may take as a
result of the new legislation.
(w)Commitments and Contingencies
Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties, and other sources are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably
estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.
(x)Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management of the Company to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include valuation allowances for inventories, income taxes and share-based compensation expense.
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(y)Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606)." ASU 2014-09 clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers
and outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The
effective date of this pronouncement is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. On February 4, 2018, the Company adopted the pronouncement using the modified retrospective
method by recognizing the cumulative effect of gift card breakage as an adjustment to retained earnings resulting in a
$0.5 million increase to retained earnings. The comparative information for the years ended prior to February 4, 2018
was not restated to comply with the pronouncement.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases.” ASU 2016-02 requires that lease arrangements longer than
12 months result in an entity recognizing an asset and a liability. The updated guidance is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and early adoption is permitted. The standard requires use of the
modified retrospective transition approach. The Company plans to adopt this pronouncement in the first quarter of
fiscal 2019, coinciding with the pronouncement’s effective date. The Company's ability to adopt this standard depends
on various factors including system readiness and completing an analysis of information necessary to quantify the
financial statement impact. The Company has established a cross-functional team to implement the pronouncement
and the Company has finalized its implementation of a leasing software solution, its assessment of the practical
expedients and policy elections offered by the standard, and changes to its business processes, systems and controls to
support the adoption of this standard. Additionally, the Company is in the process of developing drafts of its new
footnote disclosures required under the new pronouncement that will be disclosed in the Company's Form 10-Q for the
first fiscal quarter of 2019. Although the Company is still finalizing the quantitative effects of ASU 2016-02, this
pronouncement will impact its statement of operations with additional expenses primarily as it relates to the treatment
of certain initial direct lease costs that were previously capitalizable. The Company also expects a significant increase
of approximately $600 million to $800 million in total assets and total liabilities on its consolidated balance sheets in
the period of adoption given that the Company has a significant number of leases for its stores.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, "Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting."
ASU 2016-09 affects all entities that issue share-based payment awards to their employees. This accounting standards
update makes several modifications to the accounting for employee share-based payment transactions, including the
requirement that the excess income tax benefits or deficiencies that arise when the tax consequences of share-based
compensation differ from amounts previously recognized in the consolidated statement of operations be recognized as
income tax benefit or expense in the consolidated statement of operations rather than as additional paid-in capital in
the consolidated balance sheets. The guidance also clarifies the classification of components of share-based awards on
the consolidated statement of cash flows such that excess income tax benefits should not be presented separately from
other income taxes in the consolidated statement of cash flows and, thus, should be classified as an operating activity
rather than a financing activity as they are under the current guidance. ASU 2016-09 is effective for financial
statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those
years. The Company adopted this standard prospectively in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. This standard will result in
a decrease or increase to the Company's effective tax rate, net income, and earnings per share based upon the
requirement to recognize the excess income tax benefits or deficiencies in the consolidated statements of operations
and change the Company's earnings per share calculation to exclude excess tax benefits previously assumed under the
treasury stock method. No changes were required related to the classification of employee taxes paid for withheld
shares in the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows since the Company has historically classified these
within financing cash flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, "Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a
Cloud Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract." ASU 2018-15 requires implementation costs incurred by
customers in cloud computing arrangements to be deferred over the noncancellable term of the cloud computing
arrangements plus any optional renewal periods (1) that are reasonably certain to be exercised by the customer or (2)
for which exercise of the renewal option is controlled by the cloud service provider. The effective date of this
pronouncement is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
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and early adoption is permitted. The standard can be adopted either using the prospective or retrospective transition
approach. During the third quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company adopted the pronouncement using the prospective
transition method and it did not have a significant impact on the Company's financial statements.
(2)Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." ASU 2014-09
clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. The Company adopted the standard on
February 4, 2018 using the modified retrospective method by recognizing the cumulative effect as an adjustment to
retained earnings.
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Revenue Transactions
Revenue from store operations are recognized at the point of sale when control of the product is transferred to the
customer at such time. Internet sales, through the Company's fivebelow.com e-commerce website, are recognized
when the consumer receives the product as control transfers upon delivery. Returns subsequent to the period end are
immaterial; accordingly, no reserve has been recorded. Gift card sales to customers are initially recorded as liabilities
and recognized as sales upon redemption for merchandise or as breakage revenue in proportion to the pattern of
redemption of the gift cards by the customer in net sales.
The transaction price for the Company’s sales are based on the item’s stated price. To the extent that the Company
charges customers for shipping and handling on e-commerce sales, the Company records such amounts in net sales.
Shipping and handling costs, which include fulfillment and shipping costs related to the Company's e-commerce
operations, are included in costs of goods sold. The Company has chosen the pronouncement's policy election which
allows it to exclude all sales taxes from net sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Disaggregation of Revenue
The following table provides information about disaggregated revenue by groups of products: leisure, fashion and
home, and party and snack (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2018 2017 2016

Amount
Percentage
of Net
Sales

Amount
Percentage
of Net
Sales

Amount
Percentage
of Net
Sales

Leisure $793,180 50.9 % $640,961 50.1 % $499,967 50.0 %
Fashion and home 482,424 30.9 % 402,888 31.6 % 311,994 31.2 %
Party and snack 283,959 18.2 % 234,359 18.3 % 188,449 18.8 %
Total $1,559,563 100.0 % $1,278,208 100.0 % $1,000,410 100.0 %

Financial Statement Impact of Adopting ASU 2014-09
All of the Company's revenue is recognized from contracts with customers and, therefore, is subject to ASU 2014-09.
The Company adopted ASU 2014-09 using a modified retrospective approach during the thirteen weeks ended May 5,
2018 and recognized the cumulative effect as an adjustment by increasing retained earnings by $0.5 million and
income taxes payable by $0.1 million, and reducing accrued expenses by $0.7 million and deferred tax asset by $0.1
million. The cumulative adjustment was related to the recognition of gift card breakage. The adoption of ASU
2014-09 had an immaterial impact on the Company’s financial statements for the fifty-two weeks ended February 2,
2019.
(3)Income Per Common Share
Basic income per common share amounts are calculated using the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted income per common share amounts are calculated using the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period and include the dilutive impact of exercise of stock options as
well as assumed lapse of restrictions on restricted stock awards and shares currently available for purchase under the
Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, using the treasury stock method. Performance-based restricted stock units
are considered contingently issuable shares for diluted income per common share purposes and the dilutive impact, if
any, is not included in the weighted-average shares until the performance conditions are met.
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The following table reconciles net income and the weighted average common shares outstanding used in the
computations of basic and diluted income per common share (in thousands, except for share and per share data):

Fiscal Year
2018 2017 2016

Numerator:
Net income $149,645 $ 102,451 $ 71,840
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 55,763,03455,208,246 54,845,708
Dilutive impact of options, restricted stock units, and employee stock purchase plan 457,830 353,226 283,162
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 56,220,86455,561,472 55,128,870
Per common share:
Basic income per common share $2.68 $ 1.86 $ 1.31
Diluted income per common share $2.66 $ 1.84 $ 1.30

The effects of the assumed exercise of stock options outstanding as of February 3, 2018 and January 28, 2017 for
66,624 and 164,440 shares of common stock, respectively, were excluded from the fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016
calculation of diluted income per common share as their impact would have been anti-dilutive.
The effects of restricted stock units outstanding as of February 2, 2019, February 3, 2018 and January 28, 2017 for
2,315, 13,323 and 3,600 shares of common stock, respectively, were excluded from the fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and
fiscal 2016 calculation of diluted income per common share as their impact would have been anti-dilutive.
The aforementioned excluded shares do not reflect the impact of any incremental repurchases under the treasury stock
method.
(4)Line of Credit
In 2006, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "Loan and Security Agreement") with Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association that included a revolving line of credit with advances tied to a borrowing base. The
Loan and Security Agreement was amended and/or restated several times, (as amended and restated, the "Revolving
Credit Facility").
The Revolving Credit Facility allows maximum borrowings of $20.0 million with advances tied to a borrowing base
and expires on the earliest to occur of (i) May 16, 2017 or (ii) upon the occurrence of an event of default. The
Revolving Credit Facility may be increased to $30.0 million upon certain conditions. The Revolving Credit Facility
includes a $5.0 million sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit. The borrowing base is 90% of eligible credit card
receivables plus 90% of the net recovery percentage of eligible inventory less established reserves.
The Revolving Credit Facility provides for interest on borrowings, at the Company's option, at (a) a prime rate plus a
margin of (i) 0.75% if excess availability is greater than or equal to 75%, (ii) 1.0% if excess availability is less than
75% but greater than or equal to 33% or (iii) 1.25% if excess availability is less than 33% or (b) a LIBOR-based rate
plus a margin of (i) 1.75% if excess availability is greater than or equal to 75%, (ii) 2.00% if excess availability is less
than 75% but greater than or equal to 33% or (iii) 2.25% if excess availability is less than 33%. The Revolving Credit
Facility further provides for a letter of credit fee equal to the LIBOR-based rate plus (i) 1.75% if excess availability is
greater than or equal to 75%, (ii) 2.00% if excess availability is less than 75% but greater than or equal to 33% or (iii)
2.25% if excess availability is less than 33%. The Revolving Credit Facility also contains an unused credit facility fee
of 0.375% per annum and is subject to a servicing fee of approximately $12.0 thousand per year.  
The Revolving Credit Facility includes a covenant which requires the Company to maintain minimum excess
collateral availability of no less than the greater of (i) 10% of the then effective maximum credit and (ii) $3.0 million.
The Revolving Credit Facility also includes customary negative and affirmative covenants including, among others,
limitations on the Company's ability to (i) incur additional debt; (ii) create liens; (iii) make certain investments, loans
and advances; (iv) sell assets; (v) pay dividends or make distributions or other restricted payments; (vi) engage in
mergers or consolidations; or (vii) change the Company's business.
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Additionally, the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to payment upon the receipt of certain proceeds, including those
from the sale of certain assets, and is subject to an increase in the interest rate on borrowings and the letter of credit
fee of 2.0% upon an event of default. Amounts under the Revolving Credit Facility may become due upon certain
events of default including, among others, failure to comply with the Revolving Credit Facility’s covenants,
bankruptcy, default on certain other indebtedness or a change in control.
On May 10, 2017, the Company entered into a Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (the
“Amended Loan and Security Agreement”), among the Company, 1616 Holdings, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association. The Amended Loan and Security Agreement amends and restates the Third Amended and Restated Loan
and Security Agreement, dated June 12, 2013, among the Company, 1616 Holdings, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, which governed the Revolving Credit Facility.
The Amended Loan and Security Agreement includes a revolving line of credit in the amount of up to $20.0 million
(the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”). Pursuant to the Amended Loan and Security Agreement, advances under
the Amended Revolving Credit Facility are no longer tied to a borrowing base; however, the Company is required to
maintain eligible inventory at all times in an amount equal to at least $100.0 million. The Amended Revolving Credit
Facility expires on the earliest to occur of (i) May 10, 2022 or (ii) an event of default. The Amended Revolving Credit
Facility may be increased to up to $50.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The Amended Revolving Credit
Facility also includes a $20.0 million sub limit for the issuance of letters of credit.
The Amended Loan and Security Agreement reduces the interest rate payable on borrowings to be, at the Company’s
option, a per annum rate equal to (a) a prime rate or (b) a LIBOR-based rate plus a margin of 1.00%. Letter of credit
fees are equal to the interest rate payable on LIBOR-based loans. The interest rate and letter of credit fees under the
Amended Loan and Security Agreement are subject to an increase of 2.00% per annum upon an event of default.
The Amended Loan and Security Agreement removes restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay or make dividends
and distributions or repurchase its stock, but the Amended Loan and Security Agreement continues to include other
customary negative and affirmative covenants including, among other things, limitations on the Company’s ability to
(i) incur additional debt; (ii) create liens; (iii) make certain investments, loans and advances; (iv) sell assets; (v)
engage in mergers or consolidations; or (vi) change its business.
The Amended Loan and Security Agreement also removes the provisions that required the Company to make
prepayments on outstanding Amended Revolving Credit Facility balances upon the receipt of certain proceeds,
including those from the sale of certain assets. Amounts under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility may become
due upon certain events of default including, among other things, the Company’s failure to comply with the Amended
Revolving Credit Facility’s covenants, bankruptcy, default on certain other indebtedness or a change in control.
Under the Amended Loan and Security Agreement, all obligations under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility
continue to be guaranteed by 1616 Holdings, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and are secured by
substantially all of the assets of the Company and 1616 Holdings, Inc.
During fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, the Company had no borrowings or interest expense under the Amended
Revolving Credit Facility. During fiscal 2016, the Company had no borrowings or interest expense under the
Revolving Credit Facility.
As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company had approximately $20.0 million available on the line of
credit. As of January 28, 2017, the Company had approximately $20.0 million available on the line of credit of which
$19.7 million was available and $0.3 million was issued on an outstanding letter of credit obligation.
All obligations under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility and Revolving Credit Facility are secured by
substantially all of the Company's assets and are guaranteed by the subsidiary. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3,
2018, the Company was in compliance with the covenants applicable to it under the Amended Revolving Credit
Facility and Revolving Credit Facility.
(5)Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
Leases
The Company leases property and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. Certain retail store lease
agreements provide for contingent rental payments if the store’s net sales exceed stated levels (percentage rents) and/or
contain escalation clauses, which provide for increases in base rental payments for increases in future operating costs.
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Many of the Company’s leases provide for one or more renewal options for periods of five years. As of February 2,
2019, the Company’s operating lease agreements, including assumed extensions, which are generally those that take
the lease to a ten-year term, expire through fiscal 2033.
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The Company’s minimum rental commitments under operating lease agreements, including assumed extensions, as of
February 2, 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Retail stores

Corporate
office,
distribution
centers and
other

Total

2019 $136,858 $ 10,529 $147,387
2020 139,892 11,885 151,777
2021 133,356 11,834 145,190
2022 123,858 11,441 135,299
2023 115,229 9,897 125,126
Thereafter 379,150 55,071 434,221

$1,028,343 $ 110,657 $1,139,000
Rent expense, including base and contingent rent under operating leases, was $119.0 million, $98.2 million and $78.5
million in fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, respectively. Contingent rents were $0.6 million, $0.6 million and
$0.5 million in fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, respectively.
From February 3, 2019 to March 28, 2019, the Company committed to 19 new store leases with terms of 10 years that
have future minimum lease payments of approximately $35.2 million.
Other contractual commitments
The Company has an executive severance plan that is applicable to certain key employees that provide for, among
other things, salary, bonus, severance, and change-in-control provisions.
As of February 2, 2019, the Company has other purchase commitments of approximately $7.4 million consisting of
purchase agreements for materials that will be used in the construction of new stores.
Contingencies
Legal Matters
From time to time, the Company is involved in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In
management’s opinion, the outcome of such actions will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations.
(6)Shareholders’ Equity
As of February 2, 2019, the Company is authorized to issue 120,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock and
5,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock. The holders of the common stock are entitled to one vote per
share of common stock and are entitled to receive dividends if declared by the board of directors. The preferred stock
may be issued from time to time in series as designated by the board of directors. The designations, powers,
preferences, voting rights, privileges, options, conversion rights, and other special rights of the shares of each such
series and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof shall be designated by the board of directors.
Common Stock
The Company and certain of its pre-IPO shareholders are parties to an Amended and Restated Investor Rights
Agreement, which provides for, among other things, certain registration rights, requiring the Company to register
shares of our common stock held by such shareholders in the event the Company registers for sale, either for the
Company’s own account or for the account of others, shares of the Company’s common stock in certain offerings.
The Five Below, Inc. 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) is intended to be qualified as an “employee stock
purchase plan” within the meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. The number of shares of
common stock reserved for issuance, which is subject to other limitations, is 500,000 shares. The ESPP allows eligible
employees the opportunity to purchase, subject to limitations, shares of the Company’s common stock through payroll
deductions at a discount of 10% of the fair market value of such shares on the purchase date. In fiscal 2018, the
Company issued 3,413 shares of common stock under the ESPP resulting in proceeds of $0.4 million and recorded
share-based compensation expense of $32.4 thousand in connection with the ESPP related to the amount of the
discount. In fiscal 2017, the Company issued 4,465 shares of common stock under the ESPP resulting in proceeds of
$0.3 million and recorded share-based compensation expense of $21.3 thousand in connection with the ESPP related
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to the amount of the discount. In fiscal 2016, the Company issued 5,087 shares of common stock under the ESPP
resulting in proceeds of $0.2 million and recorded share-based compensation expense of $19.0 thousand in connection
with the ESPP related to the amount of the discount.
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(7)Share-Based Compensation
Equity Incentive Plan
Pursuant to the Company's 2002 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), the Company’s board of directors may grant stock
options, restricted shares and restricted stock units to officers, directors, key employees and professional service
providers. The Plan, as amended, allows for the issuance of up to a total of 7,600,000 shares under the Plan. As of
February 2, 2019, 3,229,566 stock options, restricted shares, or restricted stock units were available for grant.
Common Stock Options
All stock options have a term not greater than ten years. Stock options vest and become exercisable in whole or in
part, in accordance with vesting conditions set by the Company’s board of directors. Options granted to date generally
vest over four years from the date of grant.
Stock option activity under the Plan was as follows:

Options
outstanding

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
term

Balance as of January 30, 2016 1,088,674 $ 26.31 7.5
Granted 51,611 39.30
Forfeited (47,881 ) 36.18
Exercised (225,767 ) 14.55
Balance as of January 28, 2017 866,637 29.60 6.7
Granted — —
Forfeited (19,172 ) 37.13
Exercised (327,980 ) 29.27
Balance as of February 3, 2018 519,485 29.53 5.9
Granted — —
Forfeited (71 ) 4.95
Exercised (145,157 ) 27.73
Balance as of February 2, 2019 374,257 30.23 5.1
Exercisable as of February 2, 2019 326,464 $ 29.82 4.9

The Company did not grant any stock options in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. The fair value of each option award
granted to employees in fiscal 2016, including outside directors, is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Fiscal Year
2016

Expected volatility 47.6 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.6 %
Expected life of options 6.4 years
Expected dividend yield — %
The Company uses the simplified method to estimate the expected term of the option. The expected volatility
incorporates historical and implied volatility of similar entities whose share prices are publicly available. The risk-free
rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
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The per-share weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted to employees in fiscal 2016 was $18.89.
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 was $9.9 million,
$9.7 million and $6.4 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercisable and stock
options outstanding as of February 2, 2019 was $31.0 million and $35.3 million, respectively. In fiscal 2018, fiscal
2017 and fiscal 2016, the Company received cash from the exercise of options of $4.0 million, $9.6 million and $3.3
million, respectively. In fiscal 2016 excess tax benefits from option exercises and vesting of restricted and
performance-based restricted stock units were $1.6 million. Upon option exercise, the Company issued new shares of
common stock.
Restricted Stock Units and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
All RSUs and PSUs vest in accordance with vesting conditions set by the compensation committee of the Company’s
board of directors. RSUs granted to date have vesting periods ranging from less than one year to five years from the
date of grant. PSUs granted to date have vesting periods ranging from one year to five years from the date of grant,
including grants that have a cumulative three year performance period, subject to satisfaction of the applicable
performance goals established for the respective grant. The Company periodically assesses the probability of
achievement of the performance criteria and adjusts the amount of compensation expense accordingly. Compensation
is recognized over the vesting period and adjusted for the probability of achievement of the performance criteria.
RSU and PSU activity under the Plan was as follows:

Restricted Stock Units Performance-Based Restricted
Stock Units

Number
Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Number
Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Non-vested balance as of January 30, 2016 211,682 $ 33.47 477,463 $ 36.48
Granted 127,787 41.33 127,160 39.22
Vested (46,168 ) 37.95 (77,260 ) 38.83
Forfeited (18,125 ) 34.84 (22,807 ) 34.20
Non-vested balance as of January 28, 2017 275,176 36.27 504,556 36.91
Granted 158,304 40.52 147,552 39.65
Vested (88,550 ) 34.21 (141,003 ) 38.15
Forfeited (35,376 ) 41.11 (15,446 ) 35.20
Non-vested balance as of February 3, 2018 309,554 38.48 495,659 37.43
Granted 115,411 77.28 121,333 69.59
Vested (107,695) 37.98 (197,534 ) 35.69
Forfeited (24,382 ) 43.75 (3,258 ) 69.03
Non-vested balance as of February 2, 2019 292,888 $ 53.52 416,200 $ 47.38
In connection with the vesting of RSUs and PSUs during fiscal 2018, the Company withheld 113,058 shares with an
aggregate value of $8.0 million in satisfaction of minimum tax withholding obligations due upon vesting. In
connection with the vesting of RSUs during fiscal 2017, the Company withheld 33,327 shares with an aggregate value
of $1.5 million in satisfaction of minimum tax withholding obligations due upon vesting. In connection with the
vesting of RSUs during fiscal 2016, the Company withheld 46,750 shares with an aggregate value of $1.9 million in
satisfaction of minimum tax withholding obligations due upon vesting.
As of February 2, 2019, there was $16.1 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested
share-based compensation arrangements (including stock options, RSUs and PSUs) granted under the Plan. The cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of 2.3 years.
(8)Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. In assessing the realizability
of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which temporary differences representing net future deductible amounts become
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deductible.
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As of February 2, 2019, no valuation allowance has been provided for net deferred tax assets as management believes
that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize all deferred tax assets as of February 2, 2019.
For the fiscal year ended February 3, 2018, the Company recorded a provisional net tax benefit of $0.5 million related
to the impact of the TCJA. This provisional tax benefit included a one-time $1.5 million remeasurement charge of the
net U.S. deferred tax assets to the lower enacted U.S. corporate tax rate of 21% and a $2.0 million tax benefit related
to the Company’s 2017 blended rate of 33.7% as a result of Section 15 of the Internal Revenue Code. December 22,
2018 marked the end of the measurement period for purposes of SAB 118. As such, the Company has completed its
analysis based on legislative updates relating to the U.S. TCJA currently available and recorded no additional tax
impacts for the year ended February 2, 2019. While the Company has completed its accounting of the income tax
effects of the U.S. TCJA under SAB 118, the related tax impacts may differ, possibly materially, due to changes in
interpretations and assumptions that the Company has made, additional guidance that may be issued by regulatory
bodies, and actions and related accounting policy decisions the Company may take as a result of the new legislation.
The components of the income tax expense are as follows (in thousands): 

Fiscal Year
2018 2017 2016

Current:
Federal $33,297 $45,867 $40,053
State 8,315 6,168 4,900

41,612 52,035 44,953
Deferred:
Federal 2,000 4,606 (1,772 )
State (1,450 ) (243 ) (760 )

550 4,363 (2,532 )
Income tax expense $42,162 $56,398 $42,421
The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows:

Fiscal Year
2018 2017 2016

Statutory federal tax rate 21.0 % 33.7 % 35.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit 2.8 2.4 2.4
Other (1) (1.8 ) (0.6 ) (0.3 )

22.0 35.5 37.1
(1)Other line includes excess tax benefits relating to share-based payment accounting.

 The effective tax rate for fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017 was primarily driven by the impact of tax reform as a
result of the TCJA and the adoption of ASU 2016-09, "Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting," with respect to the requirement to recognize excess income tax benefits or deficiencies as income tax
benefit or expense in the consolidated statements of operations rather than as additional paid-in capital in the
consolidated balance sheets. The effective tax rate for fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016 was primarily driven by
discrete items, which included the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-09 and the impact of tax reform as a result of
the TCJA.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are (in thousands):
February
2, 2019

February
3, 2018

Deferred tax assets:
Inventories $9,633 $7,370
Deferred revenue 472 387
Accrued bonus 3,553 595
Deferred rent 24,136 20,353
Other 4,848 5,114
Deferred tax assets 42,642 33,819
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (35,642) (25,843)
Other (874 ) (1,300 )
Deferred tax liabilities (36,516) (27,143)

$6,126 $6,676
The Company had no material accrual for uncertain tax positions or interest or penalties related to income taxes on the
Company’s balance sheets as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, and has not recognized any material uncertain
tax positions or interest and/or penalties related to income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations for fiscal
2018, fiscal 2017, or fiscal 2016.
The Company files a federal income tax return as well as state tax returns. The Company’s U.S. federal income tax
returns for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015 and thereafter remain subject to examination by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service. State returns are filed in various state jurisdictions, as appropriate, with varying statutes of limitation
and remain subject to examination for varying periods up to three to four years depending on the state.
(9)Employee Benefit Plan
The Company has a 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan and employees can contribute up to the maximum amount
allowed under law. The Company may make discretionary matching and profit sharing contributions, which vest over
a period of five years from each employee’s commencement of employment with the Company. During fiscal 2018,
fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, the Company made matching contributions of $1.2 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million,
respectively.
(10)Segment Reporting
The Company evaluates performance internally and manages the business on the basis of one operating segment;
therefore, it has only one reportable segment. All of the Company’s identifiable assets are located in the United States.
Set forth below is data for the following groups of products: leisure, fashion and home, and party and snack. The
percentage of net sales represented by each product group for each of the last three fiscal years was as follows:

Percentage of Net Sales
Fiscal Year
2018 2017 2016

Leisure 50.9 % 50.1 % 50.0 %
Fashion and home 30.9 % 31.6 % 31.2 %
Party and snack 18.2 % 18.3 % 18.8 %
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Leisure includes items such as sporting goods, games, toys, tech, books, electronic accessories, and arts and crafts.
Fashion and home includes items such as personal accessories, “attitude” t-shirts, beauty offerings, home goods and
storage options. Party and snack includes items such as party and seasonal goods, greeting cards, candy and other
snacks, and beverages.
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(11)Quarterly Results of Operations and Seasonality (Unaudited)
Quarterly financial results for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 were as follows: (in thousands except for per share data). 

Fiscal Year 2018 (1) Fiscal Year 2017 (1) (2)
Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Net sales $602,684 $312,823 $347,734 $296,322 $504,832 $257,175 $283,320 $232,881
Gross profit $244,005 $102,090 $121,752 $97,238 $207,490 $83,631 $98,506 $73,786
Net income $89,262 $13,516 $25,063 $21,804 $67,377 $9,879 $16,804 $8,391
Basic income per common share $1.60 $0.24 $0.45 $0.39 $1.22 $0.18 $0.30 $0.15
Diluted income per common
share $1.59 $0.24 $0.45 $0.39 $1.21 $0.18 $0.30 $0.15

(1)The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal per share amounts reported for the fiscal year due torounding.

(2)

The Company operates on a fiscal calendar widely used by the retail industry that results in a given fiscal year
consisting of a 52- or 53-week period ending on the Saturday closest to January 31 of the following year. Fiscal
2017 consists of a 53-week fiscal year and the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 included an extra week, representing
the 53rd week.

The Company's business is seasonal in nature and demand is generally the highest in the fourth fiscal quarter due to
the fourth quarter holiday season and, therefore, operating results for any fiscal quarter are not necessarily indicative
of results for the full fiscal year. To prepare for the holiday season, the Company must order and keep in stock more
merchandise than it carries during other parts of the year. The Company expects inventory levels, along with an
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses, generally to reach their highest levels in the third and fourth fiscal
quarters in anticipation of the increased net sales during the year-end holiday season. As a result of this seasonality,
and generally because of variation in consumer spending habits, the Company experiences fluctuations in net sales
and working capital requirements during the fiscal year.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management has evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e), as
of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange
Act. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K are
effective at a reasonable assurance level in ensuring that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act
reports is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely manner and (2) accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent or detect all errors
and all fraud. While our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of their
effectiveness, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting during the thirteen weeks ended February 2,
2019 that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The company’s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2019. Management based this assessment on criteria for effective
internal control over financial reporting described in “Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
determined that, as of February 2, 2019, the company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting at
a reasonable assurance level.
The effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2019 has been audited by
KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report dated March 28, 2019 that
appears below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Five Below, Inc.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited Five Below, Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2019,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the fiscal
years in the three-year period ended February 2, 2019, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements), and our report dated March 28, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
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Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 28, 2019 
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item 10 is included in the “Board of Directors–Nominees for Election to the Board of
Directors for a Three-Year Term Expiring at the 2022 Annual Meeting,” “Board of Directors–Members of the Board of
Directors Continuing in Office for a Term Expiring at the 2020 Annual Meeting,” “Board of Directors–Members of the
Board of Directors Continuing in Office for a Term Expiring at the 2021 Annual Meeting,” “Executive Officers,” “Section
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Board of Directors–Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,” “Board
of Directors–Committees of the Board of Directors,” and “Board of Directors–Director Nomination Process” sections of our
proxy statement for the 2019 annual meeting of shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, and is incorporated by reference herein.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item 11 is included in the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Executive
Compensation,” “Board of Directors–Director Compensation,” “Board of Directors–Board Leadership Structure and Board’s
Role in Risk Oversight,” “Board of Directors–Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and
“Compensation Committee Report” sections of our proxy statement for the 2019 annual meeting of shareholders, which
will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is incorporated by reference herein.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item 12 is included in the “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” sections of our proxy statement for the 2019 annual meeting
of shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is incorporated by reference
herein.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is included in the “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and
“Board of Directors–Director Independence” sections of our proxy statement for the 2019 annual meeting of
shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is incorporated by reference
herein.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is included in the “Proposal 2, Ratification of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” section of our proxy statement for the 2019 annual meeting of shareholders, which will be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES

(a)    1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Company filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included
in Part II, Item 8 beginning on page 44.
2.Consolidated Financial Statements Schedules
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is either not material or
is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

3.Exhibits

Exhibit
Number        Description                                 

3.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Five Below, Inc., as currently in effect (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on September 3, 2015)

3.2Amended and Restated Bylaws of Five Below, Inc., as currently in effect (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2018)

4.1
Form of Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Amendment No. 3 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180780) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
July 9, 2012)

10.1†Five Below, Inc. 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the QuarterlyReport on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 29, 2012)

10.2†Five Below, Inc. Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of theQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 1, 2016)

10.3†Five Below, Inc. 2016 Performance Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the QuarterlyReport on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 1, 2016)

10.4a†
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Employees) (used for options granted prior to May 21, 2013)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180780)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2012)

10.4b†
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Employees) (used for options granted after May 21, 2013 and
prior to June 30, 2014) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2013)

10.4c†
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Employees (used for options granted after June 30, 2014)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 30, 2014)

10.5a†Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Executives) (used for options granted prior to May 21, 2013)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180780)

Edgar Filing: Empire State Realty Trust, Inc. - Form 10-Q

82



filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2012)
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10.5b†
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Executives) (used for options granted after May 21, 2013 and
prior to June 30, 2014) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2013)

10.5c†
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Executives (used for options granted after June 30, 2014)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 30, 2014)

10.6†
Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Shares under the Five Below, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (Employees)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-180780) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 12, 2012)

10.7†
Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Shares under the Five Below, Inc. Amended and Restated Equity
Incentive Plan (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 11, 2013)

10.8†Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Stock Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the CurrentReport on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2014)

10.9†Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Stock Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the QuarterlyReport on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 5, 2014)

10.10†Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Stock Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the AnnualReport on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 24, 2016)

10.11†Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Stock Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the CurrentReport on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2018

10.12†Form of Award Agreement for Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2018

10.13†
Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of
Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180780) filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 24, 2012)

10.14†
Letter Employment Agreement, dated October 14, 2010, by and between Thomas Vellios and Five Below, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180780)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2012)

10.15†
Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated September 28, 2011, by and between Thomas Vellios and Five
Below, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-180780) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2012)

10.16†
Amendment, dated February 18, 2015, to Employment Letter, dated October 14, 2010, as amended, by and
between Thomas Vellios and Five Below, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 23, 2015)

10.17†
Letter Employment Agreement, dated April 16, 2012, by and between Kenneth R. Bull and Five Below, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180780)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2012)
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10.18†
Letter Employment Agreement, dated December 10, 2014, by and between Michael Romanko and Five Below,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2015)

10.19†
Employment Letter and Non-Disclosure Agreement, each dated June 8, 2014, by and between Joel D. Anderson
and Five Below, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 12, 2014)
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10.20†
Amendment to Employment Letter, dated December 4, 2014, by and between Joel D. Anderson and Five Below,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 4, 2014)

10.21†
Second Amendment to Employment Letter, dated July 20, 2015, by and between Joel D. Anderson and Five
Below, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on September 3, 2015)

10.22†
Employment Letter and Non-Disclosure Agreement, each dated May 21, 2014, by and between Eric M. Specter
and Five Below, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 12, 2014)

10.23†
Amendment to Employment Letter, dated March 11, 2016, by and between Eric M. Specter and Five Below,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 17, 2016)

10.24
Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 10, 2017, among Five Below, Inc.,
1616 Holdings, Inc., and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 11, 2017)

10.25†
Employment Letter, dated April 6, 2017, by and between George S. Hill and Five Below, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 2, 2017)

10.26†Five Below, Inc. Executive Severance Plan (incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Quarterly Report onForm 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2, 2017)

10.27†
Employment Letter, dated October 29, 2017, by and between David Makuen and Five Below, Inc. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 1, 2017)

10.28†Compensation Policy for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the AnnualReport on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 22, 2018)

10.29†Employment Letter, dated February 19, 2019, and Non-Solicitation, Non-Disclosure, Non-Compete andProprietary Information Agreement by and between Judy Werthauser and Five Below, Inc. (filed herewith)

21.1List of Subsidiaries of the Company (filed herewith)    

23.1Consent of KPMG LLP (filed herewith)

31.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities ExchangeAct of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

31.2Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities ExchangeAct of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

32.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)
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32.2Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

101*
The following financial information from this Annual Report on Form 10-K, formatted in XBRL (Extensible
Business Reporting Language) and furnished electronically herewith: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations for Fiscal Years 
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2018, 2017, and 2016; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity For Fiscal Years 2018,
2017, and 2016; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Fiscal Years 2018, 2017, and 2016 and (v) the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, in each case, tagged in detail. 

† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

* Pursuant to applicable securities laws and regulations, this interactive data file is deemed not filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is
deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not
subject to liability under those sections.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Optional disclosure not included in this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, on the 28th day of March 2019.

FIVE BELOW, INC.

By: /s/ Joel D. Anderson
Name: Joel D. Anderson
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Thomas G. Vellios
Thomas G. Vellios Non-Executive Chairman of the Board March 28,

2019
/s/ Joel D. Anderson
Joel D. Anderson President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer) March 28,

2019
/s/ Kenneth R. Bull
Kenneth R. Bull

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

March 28,
2019

/s/ Kathleen S. Barclay
Kathleen S. Barclay Director March 28,

2019
/s/ Catherine E.
Buggeln
Catherine E. Buggeln

Director March 28,
2019

/s/ Michael F. Devine
III
Michael F. Devine III

Director March 28,
2019

/s/ Daniel J. Kaufman
Daniel J. Kaufman Director March 28,

2019
/s/ Dinesh Lathi
Dinesh Lathi Director March 28,

2019
/s/ Richard L. Markee
Richard L. Markee Director March 28,

2019
/s/ Thomas M. Ryan
Thomas M. Ryan Director March 28,

2019
/s/ Ronald L. Sargent
Ronald L. Sargent Director March 28,

2019
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Exhibit Index

No.      Description

10.29†Employment Letter, dated February 19, 2019, and Non-Solicitation, Non-Disclosure, Non-Compete andProprietary Information Agreement by and between Judy Werthauser and Five Below, Inc.

21.1List of Subsidiaries of the Company

23.1Consent of KPMG LLP

31.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities ExchangeAct of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities ExchangeAct of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101*

The following financial information from this Annual Report on Form 10-K, formatted in XBRL (Extensible
Business Reporting Language) and furnished electronically herewith: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations for Fiscal Years 2018,
2017, and 2016; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity For Fiscal Years 2018,
2017, and 2016; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Fiscal Years 2018, 2017, and 2016 and (v)
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, in each case, tagged in detail.

† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

* Pursuant to applicable securities laws and regulations, this interactive data file is deemed not filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is
deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not
subject to liability under those sections.
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